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A Qualitative Analysis of the Effects of a
Short-Term Business Study Abroad Model:
Perspectives from an Access Institution
Spero C. Peppas, Stephanie R. Peppas, Mei Miranda Zhang,
and Austen L. Krill
Georgia Gwinnett College

With globalization trends continuing, businesses are looking for employees with not only strong business skills but also cultural awareness and
a global mindset. Business schools, in turn, are searching for ways to
prepare their students for successful careers in today’s global economy.
Short-term study abroad or study abroad tours have been offered by many
schools as a means of preparing students for today’s global business
environment. However, the effects of these tours have not been adequately
assessed. This qualitative study examines the advantages and disadvantages of a 12-day study tour at an access institution.
Keywords: Qualitative Assessment, Business Education, Cultural
Awareness, International, Access Institution, Study Abroad
Disciplines of Interest: Business Administration, Management,
Marketing, International Business, Finance
INTRODUCTION
Globalization trends are continuing and companies are realizing the importance of hiring employees who have the knowledge and skills needed to work in
today’s globally interconnected business environment. Challenged by strong and
growing global economic forces, differences in organizational and cultural values,
and cultural diversity among employees and customers, businesses find themselves in need of employees with not only strong business skills but also cultural
awareness and a global mindset. In short, organizations are expecting new hires to be
culturally aware and ready to work in a global economy [Harder et al., 2015].
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As a result, business schools have worked to internationalize their curricula in
various ways, including requiring students to take one or more specialized
“international business” courses, adding “international” elements to standard
business courses, and providing various study abroad opportunities. According to
the 2018 report of the Institute of International Education (IIE), 332,727 U.S.
students studied abroad for academic credit in 2016/2017. This represents an
increase of 2.3 percent from the previous year, with Europe the destination that
accounted for 54 percent of study abroad for academic credit [Institute of
International Education, 2019].
There are a variety of forms that study abroad programs may take. Traditionally, study abroad has been associated with semester- or year-long stays in foreign
countries. In these scenarios, students enroll in programs offered by the home
institution or enroll at host universities abroad where the credits that they earn are
transferred back to their home institution. Unfortunately, these semester- or
year-long programs are not viable options for many business students due to
childcare and other responsibilities, the cost, an unwillingness to commit to an
unfamiliar environment for an extended period of time, or limited time off from
work [Giancola et al., 2009]. As a result, these students are precluded from the
benefits of such programs. In an attempt to respond to the needs of these learners,
many business schools have included short-term programs, often referred to as
short study tours, study tours, or study abroad tours, in their curricula. Most often,
these offerings are taught by faculty from the home institution and include on-site
visits over a one- to three-week period to businesses, NGOs, and/or production
facilities in one or multiple destination countries.
OBJECTIVE AND SIGNIFICANCE
For years, researchers have agreed that study abroad can help students hone
their interpersonal skills, as well as increase their knowledge of business practices
around the world [see, for example, Henthorne et al., 2001; Peppas, 2005; Sideli
et al., 2003]. Furthermore, educators have advanced the argument that a study
abroad experience leads to other desirable outcomes, including greater cultural
appreciation and enhanced global awareness and attention to international affairs
[Hadis, 2005]. However, while many authors have directed their research toward
examining the benefits of semester- or year-long study abroad offerings, Williams
and Best [2013] note that there has been limited research on the benefits of short
study tours.
An even wider gap in the literature relates to studies that report the effects of
short study tours at open-access colleges and universities. “Open-access, nearlyopen access, and nonselective institutions are defined as public four-year colleges
and universities that admit at least 80 percent of applicants. These colleges and
universities account for most of the increases in completion rates in 33 states”
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[Doyle, 2010]. It is noteworthy that we could find no studies addressing the
impact of study tours at such schools.
The purpose of this research was to qualitatively assess the perceived benefits
of an undergraduate business study tour course at an open-access institution using
a series of open- ended questions. The research design removed the constraints of
a structured response format found in much of the research on study tours and
allowed participants the freedom to respond in their own words to the questions
posed in the survey.
The findings of this study fill a gap in the literature in terms of the qualitative
assessment of the effects of study tours for undergraduates and, more specifically,
the effects on students at an open-access college. The findings of this study should
prove useful to educators in understanding the role and benefits of study abroad
tours and in better preparing business students to succeed in today’s business
environment.
LITERATURE REVIEW
A review of the literature suggests that there are a variety of benefits of study
abroad programs. Some researchers suggest that participation in study abroad
programs increases cultural awareness and personal growth [Black and Duhan,
2006; Costello, 2015; Walsh and Walsh, 2018] and others, for example, Hilton
[2007] and Rexeisen and Al-Khatib [2009], further suggest that study abroad also
enhances intercultural development and competence. Clark et al. [2009] posit that
students who study abroad may also have greater intercultural proficiency and an
increased openness to cultural diversity, become more globally minded than those
who remain in a traditional campus setting, and perceive themselves as being
more proficient, approachable, and open to intercultural communication.
Brandauer and Hovmand [2013] and Lee et al. [2012] further found that studying
abroad provides experiences that facilitate international awareness and crosscultural communication skills, as well as self-confidence. As might be expected,
it also has been found that studying abroad provides language learners with
opportunities for immersion in a chosen language and opportunities to learn about
another culture [Garbati and Rothschild, 2016]. In research of language listening
comprehension by Cubillos et al. [2008], it was found that listening comprehension of study abroad participants had improved and, furthermore, that this was
linked to a higher confidence level, which in turn had an effect on motivation,
attitude toward learning, and continuation of studies beyond the required level.
With regard to students’ future careers, Wang et al. [2016] and Kimberly [2010]
propose that students are more likely to have favorable attitudes toward study
abroad if they perceive that the program will provide benefits in terms of career
development. Norris and Gillespie [2009] found that the study abroad experience
enabled the majority of respondents to gain skills that influenced their career path,
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an interest in a career direction that they pursued, and/or foreign language ability
that they used at work. Furthermore, along this line of reasoning, Gammonley et
al. [2007] suggest that study abroad plays a role in expanding students’ understanding of the impact of globalization.
With the exception of a few studies [see, for example, Opengart, 2018;
Peppas, 2005; Walsh and Walsh, 2018] the majority of studies have provided
respondents with a finite set of response possibilities to the questions posed. The
qualitative study described here allowed respondents to express what they themselves believe to be meaningful outcomes of the study abroad experience without
the constraints of a prescribed response format.
THE STUDY ABROAD TOUR MODEL
Annually from 2008 to 2018, the principal authors of this study directed and
taught a multiple-destination business study tour course to Western Europe for an
urban public college in the Southeastern United States. Students could register for
three or six semester credit hours, depending on the scope of the research students
wished to undertake (see below). While this course was developed independently
of any published model, its structure paralleled that of the model described by
Porth [1997]. In order to give perspective to the findings in this paper, the
objectives and structure of the course are described below.
Objectives of the Course
The business study tour course was a business elective designed to introduce
upper-level (junior/senior) undergraduate business students to comparative views
of business and help students gain an understanding and appreciation of the
factors at work in today’s business global environment. The overseas component
allowed students to directly interact with managers, government officials, and
others and to learn first-hand the skills critical to international business. More
specifically, the course gave students an opportunity to:
•

•
•

4

Develop an understanding of theories and practices of organizing, leading, motivating, communicating, and negotiating in different national
settings by traveling to a foreign country (countries) and visiting facilities, attending presentations, meeting with business managers and others,
and engaging in experiential learning.
Develop an understanding of similarities and differences in approaches to
the functional areas of business in different countries.
Develop an understanding of cultural, economic, political, legal and
technological differences.

Journal of the Academy of Business Education

Structure of the Course
The first phase of the course was composed of four extended (18 contact
hours) predeparture classes. The classes 1) focused on culture, including exercises
allowing students to identify their own cultural values and differences and
similarities between U.S. and destination business and social values, 2) provided
students with resources that outlined the sociocultural, political-legal, and
economic environments of the countries to be visited, as well as information
on the companies/organizations that would be visited and, 3) provided practical information about the travel portion of the course, as well as survival
language training. The pretrip cultural exercises included a compilation of
“descriptors” for each destination country. That is, as a class, students generated adjectives that they believed described the culture/people of each
country to be visited. Students would then be required to consider these
descriptors while visiting each country and provide comments on whether they
found the descriptor to be accurate.
During this phase, students were engaged in the learning process by researching a topic consistent with the objectives of the course and that related to one of
the companies to be visited or the industry in which the company operated.
Students were required to make a presentation of their findings to the class and to
submit a copy of their visuals and list of references consulted. All topics were
approved by the professor beforehand to ensure that all companies/industries to be
visited were included in the presentations, that topics reflected a sufficiently high
level of academic rigor, and that the scope of the research was appropriate for the
number of credit hours for which students were enrolled.
A seven-question prompt sheet was due at the time of the students’ oral
presentations. This prompt sheet related to students’ chosen topics and included
the following items:
1) An overview of the relevant company/organization,
2) a summary of the findings related to the specific topic the student
researched, and
3) a list of 7 pertinent questions that could be used by all participants during
the question-and–answer portions of the on-site visits.
The seven-question prompt sheets were distributed to all participants to be
placed in a notebook and taken on the overseas component of the course.
The overseas component consisted of a 12-day study tour to Belgium, France,
and Switzerland and included seven to eight full- or half-day visits across a
variety of industries/organizations. During these visits, students attended presentations by upper- and mid-level management and, in some cases, students were
given an opportunity to interact informally with the speakers over lunch.
Question-and-answer (Q&A) sessions, as well as visits to production facilities,
were also included.
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Over the years visits have included The Antwerp World Diamond Center, The
European Parliament, The European Commission, UPS European Headquarters,
NATO, Comité Champagne, Champagne Deutz, Champagne Vranken-Pommery,
Disneyland Paris, Coca-Cola France, The Swiss Bankers Association, The
Geneva Financial Center, The Association of Swiss Private Banks, HSBC Switzerland, the World Trade Organization, The World Intellectual Property Organization, VibroMeter, the International Committee of the Red Cross and Red
Crescent, Cailler, and OMEGA SA. Presentations covered, for example, issues in
finance, human resources, production, marketing, and research and development
(R&D).
During the travel portion, students were required to keep a journal of their
corporate visits and of the experiential learning that occurred during their free
time. The journal included detailed presentation notes and reflective takeaways
from both the visits and the experiential learning that occurred during the
students’ free time. Students were also required to include a section focusing on
the descriptors for each country and whether they found the descriptors to be
applicable, giving reasons for their position. Upon return to the United States,
students were given four weeks to synthesize their experiences and produce a
bound journal. Furthermore, students were required to complete a major research
paper on the topic they had chosen for their pretrip oral presentations. Papers were
due seven to eight weeks after completion of the overseas phase. The journals and
the research papers were instrumental in helping students integrate the learning
that had occurred during the first two phases of the course. The course concluded
with a final six-hour on-campus debriefing class in which students made presentations on their reflective takeaways from the visits, as well as the experiences that
occurred during their free time during the trip.
With regard to logistics and cost of the program, in addition to course tuition
and fees, students were responsible for land and travel costs that included
trans-Atlantic air fare, inter-European travel via bullet train, double occupancy in
business-class hotels, hot American breakfasts, some lunches and dinners, some
excursions, and transportation to and from corporate visits via private motorcoach. Upon arrival in destination cities, students were led on orientation tours
(walking and via public transportation) to acquaint them with the basic lay of the
land. Students were encouraged to go as “local” as possible and were allowed
several free days (including weekends and holidays) to see the sites and to
experience the cultures of the destination countries on their own.
METHODOLOGY
Survey Instrument
The survey instrument included a demographic information section and
questions intended to measure the impact of the course. The demographic section
gathered data on gender identification and nationality. With regard to gender,
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gender identification (ID) was presented as an open response question. The
race/ethnicity categories used by the U.S. Department of Education’s National
Center for Education Statistics (Hispanic or Latino of any race [coded H/L];
Alaska native or American Indian, not Hispanic or Latino [coded AN/AI]; Asian,
not Hispanic or Latino [coded A]; Black or African American, not Hispanic or
Latino [coded B/AA]; Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander, not Hispanic or
Latino [coded NH/PI]; white, not Hispanic or Latino [coded W]; two or more
races, not Hispanic or Latino [coded Two⫹]) were used to gather data on the
respondents’ race/ethnicity. Questions to capture age, year of study tour participation, and the industries in which the respondents worked were also included.
Participants were then asked to respond to a series of open-ended questions,
which are the focus of this paper. The objective of these questions was to find out,
via an unstructured response format, what students perceived to be the advantages
and disadvantages of this short-term study tour as an approach to business
education and to assess the perceived benefits of this course in terms of its impact
on their educational goals, career paths or the way they worked, and personal
growth. The open-ended questions queried the respondents about the following:
1) The advantages of the study tour as an approach to business education
2) The disadvantages of the study tour as an approach to business education
3) How the study tour had an impact on their careers and/or on the way they
worked
4) How the study tour had an impact on their educational goals
5) How the study tour had an impact on their personal growth.
Sample and Questionnaire Administration
From 2008 through 2017, a total of 169 students participated in the course. Of
this total, all but 3 students were business administration majors; the majority of
the students had concentrations in international business, management, and marketing. Attempts were made to contact all students who had taken the course to
solicit their participation.
The survey was administered online during fall semester 2017. Responses
were anonymous. Of the 169 students who had taken the course, 23 students were
unreachable due to a lack of current contact information. Therefore, 146 students
were contacted through multiple emails or texts, and responses were obtained
from 123 individuals for a response rate of 84.2 percent.
Methods of Analysis
The demographic data were analyzed to provide frequencies with regard to
gender, nationality, race/ethnicity, age, and year of participation in the study tour.
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Table 1. Gender Identification and Race/Ethnicity of Respondents

Male
Female
Race/ethnicity,
with no gender
ID reported

White, not
Hispanic
or Latino
27
27
1

Black or
African American,
not Hispanic
or Latino
6
19

Hispanic or
Latino, of
any race
12
18
1

Asian, not
Hispanic
or Latino
0
3

American
Indian or Alaska
Native, not
Hispanic
or Latino
1
0

Two or more
races, not
Hispanic or Latino
0
3

Also gathered was information on employment. Given the nonquantitative nature
of the responses to the five research questions, qualitative data analysis was
employed. This method has been described by Marshall and Rossman [1990, 111]
as a way to bring “order, structure, and meaning” to qualitative data. NVivo, QSR
International’s qualitative analysis software developed for the analysis of unstructured text, audio, video, and image data, was employed to analyze the responses.
The NVivo analysis resulted in the identification of themes and subthemes
through language usage and context examination.
RESULTS
Demographics
Of those who answered at least one open-ended question on the survey, 37
percent were male and 57 percent were female, with 6 percent failing to indicate
a gender identity. Eighty-five percent were U.S. citizens. In terms of
race/ethnicity, 44.7 percent were white, 25.2 percent were Hispanic, 20.3 percent
were Black or African-American, 2.4 percent were Asian or Pacific Islander, 0.8
percent were American Indian or Alaskan native, and 2.4 percent indicated they
were two or more races, with 4.2 percent failing to indicate a race/ethnicity. Table
1 gives a more detailed count of the gender identifications and races/ethnicities of
the respondents.
Ages of respondents ranged from 21 to 68, with a mean of 31.2 years. At the
time of respondents’ participation in the course, ages ranged from 20 to 60, with
a mean of 28.0 years. Table 2 gives a more detailed breakdown of the age data.
The respondent pool included participants for each of the nine years that this
study tour course had been offered. Table 3 depicts the numbers of respondents
by year and also the percentages by that year’s class size.
In terms of employment, 71.5 percent of respondents were working full time,
17.1 percent were working part time, and 7.3 percent were not working, with 4.1
percent not reporting any employment status. Those who were not employed were
either still in school or in between jobs and looking for work. Respondents held
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Table 2. Age of Respondents
Percent of Respondents
in Categories (at
Time of Survey)
54.5
25.2
12.2
4.05
4.05
100

Age
Categories
20-29
30-39
40-49
50 and over
Missing
Total

Percent of Respondents
in Categories (at
Time of Participation)
65.0
15.5
8.95
1.6
8.95
100

Table 3. Percent of Respondents by Year

Year of
Participation
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017
Missing
Total

Number of
Respondents
5
Not offered
11
5
6
17
18
13
19
22
7
123

Class
Size
14
–
15
13
18
18
22
22
24
26

Percentage of
Respondents by
Respective Class Size
35.7
–
73.3
38.5
33.3
94.4
81.8
59.1
79.2
84.6

positions in a variety of fields, with the most often cited being technology
management, project management, food service/hospitality, management/human
resources (HR), and healthcare.
Open-ended Questions
The software program NVivo, through reiterative word and text analysis,
helped us identify themes and explore concepts related to these themes. First,
word frequency queries were applied to each of the 5 research questions analyzed
in this study. This enabled the researchers to see, in context, each of the most
frequently used words for each research question and get an indication of what
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respondents thought. Using these initial results, word queries for similar words
were initiated to expand the word base. After this preliminary phase of the
research, text queries and content analysis were used to develop themes by
exploring and refining word usage and context.
We identified 10 themes in the responses to research question 1 regarding
advantages of the study tour as an approach to business education. Table 4 shows
the themes and the number of respondents who indicated each theme. In addition,
examples of participant responses attributable to the various themes are included.
If a response was reflective of more than one theme, the response was counted
under each of the themes to which it applied.
The survey questions regarding the impact of the study tour on career/work
style, educational goals, and personal growth were included in the survey as,
anecdotally, over the years, students had made comments regarding the benefits of
their study abroad experience that fell into these broad areas. Table 5 below shows
these three major themes; the most often-cited subthemes within each for research
questions 3, 4, and 5; and the number of respondents who indicated each
subtheme, as well as examples of student responses related to the subthemes.
Again, if a respondent’s comments were reflective of more than one subtheme, the
comment was counted under each of the subthemes to which it applied.
Finally, with regard to the respondents’ perceptions of the disadvantages of
the study tour as an approach to business education (research question 2), four
themes surfaced. Table 6 shows the 4 areas most often cited, along with related
student responses.
DISCUSSION
The response rate to this survey was 84.2 percent. We believe that this
extremely high response rate reflects the impact that the study tour had on the
students. In terms of the race/ethnicity of the respondents in this study, nearly 50
percent were from underrepresented racial minorities, closely mirroring the demographics of the college. As might be expected based on the literature regarding
gender and study abroad participation, the female/male ratio was weighted toward
women.
With regard to the advantages of the study tour as an approach to business
education, it is noteworthy that 60 percent of the comments point to three major
themes, as follows: global perspective of business, hands-on learning, and increased cultural awareness. These findings highlight the importance of a full slate
of industry/organization visits (seven or eight in a 12-day period) and on debriefings after each visit.
In terms of disadvantages, 50 percent of the respondents indicated that they
perceived that there were no disadvantages to the study tour. While the desire for
more time abroad was the second most often cited disadvantage, it is questionable
whether a longer stay would have been possible for these students. The majority
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Table 4. Advantages of the Study Tour as an Approach to Business Education
Themes
Global perspective
of business

Number of
Mentions
40

Hands on learning

37

Increased cultural
awareness

26

Practical application
of theory

14

Access to upperlevel
management

14

Improved
intercultural
skills

10

Increased selfconfidence and
personal growth

10

Appreciation of
diversity

9

Altered career paths
and/or increased
opportunities

8

Desire for more
education and/or
stronger work
ethic in terms of
school work

5

Examples of Student Responses*
Male, 38, W, 2013: Spending time with professionals from other cultures was invaluable.
Getting to speak with them first-hand about the differences in business as it relates to
culture was incredibly informative. Getting a real look at how the markets differ from our
own gave me a real perspective into the global business environment.
Male, 29, H/L, 2017: It’s essentially the closest thing to a ⬙hands-on” experience that one will
have in a foreign setting, apart from working there literally. It provides us with insight as to
how our competitors operate and allows us to compare with our home countries’ operations
to pick out the best strategies for business operations.
Male, 33, W, 2008: A global mindset is imperative for any future business person. Studies
abroad provides hands-on learning experience in cultural norms and how those norms
impact our own methods of business at home. But most importantly, Studies Abroad
provides a better understanding of how foreign cultural norms are equally important, albeit
different, from their domestic counterparts.
Female, 36, B/AA, 2011: The advantage of the Study Abroad approach is that students get to
see how US business theories and processes work in other countries. It is hands-on
application that is invaluable because you get to really see how the theories are met with
acceptance or rejection in a global environment.
Female, 32, W, 2010: The studies abroad program exposed us to business professionals at high
caliber institutions that we otherwise never would have interacted with. . . We also learned
best practices and strategies employed at successful global businesses and made the
classroom material come to life.
Male, 30, W, 2014: I personally interact with customers of numerous different socio-economic
and cultural backgrounds. I believe that my experiences on the study abroad trip have
altered my perspective on different cultures. I feel as though I have become more
understanding of how different cultures/nationalities impact business dealings and
transactions.
Female, 24, A, 2014: I credit the Studies Abroad program and the professors completely for
my personal growth in the sense that I now have an attitude that I can achieve any goals I
put my mind to. I chose my current career because of the professors’ passion, inspiration,
and dedication to students.
Male, 33, W, 2008: It has given me a greater awareness of the global community, as well as
greater tolerance for those whose culture is different than my own. I am now less likely to
apply my cultural understandings to a global issue without first contemplating the cultural
ramifications of other global participants.
Female, 24, H/L, 2016: Studies abroad definitely helped me in my career. I’m now working
with a global company and I’m happy to say it was because of my experience in my
studies abroad. I had the opportunity to talk about what I learned and the importance of
understanding and accepting cultures in order to do business across the globe.
Female, 46, B/AA, 2012: After studying abroad, I vowed to be more globally aware and to
learn a new language. I chose Spanish and French so I can make myself more marketable
for possibly transferring abroad with my current employer.

*Responses labeled with students’ gender self-identification, age, race/ethnicity per the
U.S. Department of Education’s National Center for Education Statistics, and year of
Studies Abroad participation.

held part- or full-time jobs and getting away for a longer period of time would
probably not have been feasible. Cost was also cited as a disadvantage. Interestingly, in the analysis of the responses, it was found that the students indicated that
the study tour was “worth the cost” but that they believed that many students
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Table 5. Impact of the Study Tour
Impact Themes
Career or Work
Style
Cultural and
interpersonal
communications

Number of
Mentions
144
27

Cultural competence

31

Positioning

45

Preparedness to work
and serve in global
community

39

Educational Goals
Application of
knowledge

169
16

Cultural awareness

26

Experiential learning

54

Profound and lasting
impact

56

12

Description and Examples of Student Responses*

Improved ability to communicate cross-culturally.
Male, 24. W, 2016: Working in a field where I speak to a diverse group of people and
build long term relationships, I have a better grasp of what style of communication
works best in different cultural backgrounds.
Improved ability to function in different cultural contexts and to alter practices for different
cultures.
Male, 29, W, 2014: I work for a manufacturing company and the majority of our line
workers are immigrants, virtually all competitors are overseas, and I deal with some
suppliers and customers overseas. The Studies Abroad course greatly opened my eyes to
dealing with these other cultures. In return, I can relate and have a better relationship
with my people as well with customers and vendors.
Greater opportunities in the workplace or in career paths. Acknowledgement of the study
tour as a distinct experience setting participants apart from others.
Female, 29, W, 2010: Study abroad made me realize that I wasn’t competing in a national
job market but a global one. The trip opened my eyes to the talent worldwide and
pushed me to become a better business woman. My perspective on cultural differences
helps aid me as a professional today. I consider myself a global student of business
instead of an American business woman.
Improved level of preparedness for work or a greater desire to travel and interact
internationally.
Female, 26, B/AA, 2016: Studies abroad gave me an advantage with my current job. I am
currently on a great track with my current employer. I brought back different marketing
strategies to my company. They were so impressed about the outcome, I was able to
meet the Vice President and many more from my company. Things are looking great for
my career.
Use of knowledge and experience gained in the study tour.
Male, 28, B/AA, 2011: I work in property retail management as a Director of Marketing
and Administration. I deal with a great diversity of cultural backgrounds in small
businesses and global industries. Having seen how large companies do business on a
large scale and the impact that has on the local economy has let me see the various
channels of business. Even in the small business sector many receive merchandise from
across the world. No matter how big or small, it’s still a global economy.
Greater understanding of cultural similarities and differences.
Female, 27, W, 2017: Studies Abroad really opened my eyes to what the business world is
like outside of the United States. Though we visited some companies conducting
business in our home country, it was interesting to see the differences between how
business is conducted and how the employees feel working in the countries we visited.
It opened my eyes to new cultures and allowed me to better understand my
concentration of International Business.
Value of learning in real life and real time.
Female, 23, B/AA, 2017: There were many advantages, the biggest was of course the hands
on experience. Learning about a country in a class room is very different than actually
being in that country interacting with its people, eating its food, visiting its businesses
etc. Therefore, learning how a countries 关sic兴 typical business is being conducted,
especially based on its culture, political, and legal systems, while seeing and
experiencing it yourself does really solidify the lessons.
Change in goals, ideas, skills, or educational direction.
Female, 32, B/AA, 2016: The ability to add this to my resume has changed the entire
document and is already beginning to open doors for me. Study abroad has helped build
my confidence and now I plan on pursuing further education after this degree.
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Table 5. Impact of the Study Tour (Continued)
Impact Themes
Skills and positioning

Number of
Mentions
15

Personal Growth
Becoming a global
citizen

126
13

Cultural awareness

40

Holistic experience

5

Personal agency

29

Profound and lasting
impact

37

Description and Examples of Student Responses*
Improved skills or standing in the academic environment with distinct and valuable experience in
terms of competing with others.
Male, 27, W, 2014: Visiting all of these different organizations and speaking with the executives
has given me a greater feeling of confidence. With any career, speaking and interacting with
others is essential and I believe that my experience abroad has helped me to speak more openly
and express my ideas more freely. I also believe that mentioning my Studies Abroad experience
with my interviewer set me apart from others and helped get me at my current position. Also,
learning some of the best practices from other cultures has definitely helped me in my day to
day at work.
Benefit of travel, thinking globally, and awareness of a world outside the USA.
Male, 35, W, 2012: . . . Studies Abroad helps to develop global citizenship and help 关sic兴 students
gain insights into the nuances, differences, and challenges International businesses face in a
complex and ever-changing environment. No matter where a student may study abroad or what
business-related industries are being researched, the student will gain enriching experiences and
further develop their skills to navigate unique cultural situations in the future.
Understanding of cultural similarities and differences
Male, 33, W, 2008: The Studies Abroad experience has had the greatest impact on how I perceive
foreigners and their culture. This, in turn, has impacted how I interact with foreign people or
those with national descent different than my own.
Growth in personal attributes, appreciation, relationships, or thinking.
Female, 47, H/L, 2016: My experience abroad influenced my personal growth in different ways:
Educational, Cultural and Professional. Educationally, it provided me with knowledge presented
in the real world of these successful organizations. On the other hand, the unique experiences
shared with my professors, leaders and speakers of the companies empower me with the desire
and input to learn more and prepare myself better in different aspects of my life, to be a better
professional, and a better person that can contribute to society.
Greater ability to initiate and direct actions for given purposes, within constraints of self-efficacy
and skill level
Female, 36, H/L, 2008: Studies Abroad ignited an interest in exploring all the career and learning
opportunities that were available in my job–particularly because my employer participates in
public health activities on a global scale. That led to my taking advantage of many free courses
and volunteering opportunities which expanded my skillset and brought exposure to staff in
different departments. That eventually led to my being nominated for and ultimately awarded the
agency director’s annual award for excellence in leadership. That in turn led to my being invited
to serve as the interim managing editor for the longest-running public health journal in the
country.
Life-changing or once-in-a-lifetime experience
Female, 28, W, 2010: Before study abroad, I had never been out of the country. In fact, I lived in a
box. Study abroad made my world so much bigger. I loved experiencing other cultures. My
confidence grew tremendously through this experience. Study abroad made me feel a sense of
accomplishment that I had traveled abroad “on my own.” This helped develop my independence.
In fact, when an opportunity to travel to Israel came up 2 years after college, I jumped on the
chance. I know my willingness to travel to the Middle East was largely due to my time on study
abroad. Through my time traveling to three different countries on study abroad, I came to
realize that the world is attainable, and I now have a real desire to travel as much of it as I can.
I now have a love and respect for different cultures and enjoy learning more about the way
people live and work as a result of my time in this program. Lastly, a group of strangers
became friends on that trip. That kind of experience bonds you, and I know we’ll continue to
stay in touch for many years.

**Responses labeled with students’ gender self-identification, age, race/ethnicity per the
U.S. Department of Education’s National Center for Education Statistics, and year of
Studies Abroad participation.
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Table 6. Disadvantages of the Study Tour

Themes
No disadvantages

Time

Cost

Attitude

Number
of
Mentions Description and Examples of Student Responses*
50
No perceived disadvantages.
Female, 48, B/AA, 2014: In my opinion there are
no disadvantages of Studies Abroad.
20
Desire for more time abroad.
Female, 28, H/L, 2017: I really wished we had
more time. I regret not talking to locals more
about their way of living and their views on
things. I had a few conversations with people,
but would’ve liked to have had more.
17
Cost prohibitive for many.
Male, 27, W, 2013: Maybe cost, but the price paid
for the trip was well below the value received
11
Cultural adjustment issues and comments regarding
students who were not serious.
Male, 26, W, 2017: Culture shock. Getting used to
a new time zone. The time/energy investment
necessary to do well. How physically exhausting/
demanding it is. Potential personality conflicts.

*Responses labeled with students’ gender self-identification, age, race/ethnicity per the
U.S. Department of Education’s National Center for Education Statistics, and year of
Studies Abroad participation.

would find the cost to be prohibitive and would therefore not be able to participate. This finding should serve as an impetus for college administrators to find
ways to help fund short-term study tours so that more students can take advantage
of this approach to business education.
The examination of the impact themes showed that a positive impact on
educational goals was mentioned more often than that on career/work style or
personal growth. Two educational subthemes were mentioned twice as often as
the other subthemes in this category, namely the value of learning in real life and
real time and a change in goals, ideas, skills, or educational direction. The analysis
also showed that even though the question asked about impact on educational
goals, the majority of the mentions did not pertain to gaining additional formal
education but rather pertained to the impact on learning in general, e.g., to
application of knowledge, greater understanding, and improved skills.
For career/work style, the most mentions were in terms of positioning.
Respondents felt that the study tour offered them greater opportunities in the
workplace or on their career paths. They acknowledged that the study tour was a

14

Journal of the Academy of Business Education

distinct experience that set them apart from others. The second largest number of
mentions related to an improved level of preparedness for work and a greater
desire to travel and interact internationally in terms of their careers. Given
continuing globalization trends, this willingness and desire to work in a global
community should serve these participants well in their careers.
Respondents also believed that the study tour had an impact on their personal
growth. Subthemes included thinking globally and becoming aware of a world
outside of the USA, increased self-confidence and other personal attributes, and a
greater ability to initiate and direct actions for given purposes. The most mentions
in this category focused on the realization and understanding of cultural similarities and differences, reflecting self-awareness as well as cultural awareness. It is
noteworthy that many students professed that the study tour had a profound and
lasting impact. They used the terms “life-changing” and a “once-in-a-lifetime
experience.”
LIMITATIONS AND CONCLUSION
In summary, the qualitative analyses in this study examined the perceived
benefits of a specific short-term business study abroad model. The model was
structured so that students attended pre- and post-trip classes, made oral presentations, developed Q&A prompt sheets for the overseas corporate visits, generated
predeparture “descriptors” for the destination countries, and compared their
preconceptions with what they found to be the case during the travel component.
Students also completed a research project related to one of the organizations
visited. A major component of the course was the creation of a journal in which
students described what they learned during the corporate visits and during their
free time and, most importantly, included reflective takeaways related to both the
corporate visits and free time experiences. The study analyzed responses to
questions regarding the advantages and disadvantages of study abroad as an
approach to business education and its impact on educational goals, career/work
style, and personal growth. This study contributes to the literature by qualitatively
assessing the outcomes of study tours and fills a gap regarding the effects of study
tours at open-access institutions.
As with any research, there are limitations. First, student self-assessment is by
its very nature subjective and getting an exact measure of the soft skills gained
from a study abroad experience is difficult. Pre- and posttravel assessment could
provide additional insight in this area. Also, it is unclear what effects a longer stay
abroad, as well as the fact that the students traveled with faculty and a group of
students from their home institution, might have had on the findings of this study.
Whereas traveling abroad may lead to a sense of achievement when students find
that they can overcome the challenges of being thrust into new, unpredictable, and
uncertain situations, the fact that they were not “on their own” may have lessened
this effect. That more students mentioned career-/work-related gains and impact
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on educational goals than personal growth may be reflective of their not having
overcome the challenges on their own. It should also be noted that, as a result of
traveling with faculty and other students from the same institution, there is a risk
of cultural bias with regard to student reflections. To reduce the effect of a “home
institution culture” bias, researchers may wish to replicate this study using a study
abroad group comprised of students from several colleges as well as faculty from
more than one institution.
It would also be interesting to know what effects year of participation and other
demographics, such as age at time of participation and current employment status, have on
perceived benefits. While the sample size in this study is too small to allow for such
analyses, future researchers may wish to delve further into these issues.
In conclusion, this study confirms that well-designed study abroad tours using
a real-life, real-time approach are impactful and can effectively help internationalize business school curricula. With increasing globalization and cultural diversity in the workplace, it is noteworthy that the respondents felt that the course had
a direct and positive impact on their ability to function effectively in the business
world. Respondents also indicated that the study tour led to an appreciation of
knowledge and learning and had a positive impact in terms of their goals, ideas,
skills, and educational direction. Furthermore, the study tour also had an impact
in terms of self-awareness, self-confidence, and self-direction.
The structure used in this course has been employed for many years by the
principal authors of this study and, based upon the results of this research, appears
to have been effective. It is believed that the emphasis on reflective takeaways
throughout the travel component and afterward was, in part, the reason for the
overwhelmingly positive responses. Finally, the results of this study indicate that
considerable worthwhile learning can occur in a short-term study abroad course in
terms of both course content and global context.
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Does the Quiz Design Affect Student
Preparation in a Flipped/Hybrid Business
Course?
Cheryl T. Clark
Georgia Gwinnett College

Hybrid and flipped courses provide flexibility in time management for
students and maximize face-to-face course time by actively applying
assigned concepts. When the two formats are combined, student preparedness is central for this active learning design, which relies heavily
on the out-of-class work being completed before the in-class active
learning sessions. Studies show the positive impact of quizzes on exam
performance, while weekly quizzes motivate students to come to class
prepared, in traditional courses. This study compares the impact of three
quiz designs on student preparedness as measured by exam performance
in flipped/hybrid courses. Results show that quizzes at the beginning of
each in-class session best prepare students for in-class active learning
and significantly improved exam grades.
Keywords: Hybrid, Flipped, Quizzes, Active Learning, Blended
Learning, Business Education
Disciplines of Interest: Management, Leadership, Business
INTRODUCTION
The landscape of higher education continues to evolve in an environment in
which technology, student demographics, and pedagogy are steadily changing.
For many students today, college learning involves balancing the demands of
personal life (e.g., job, family, finances) and academic life. Therefore, developing
a curriculum that promotes student engagement is of paramount importance to
enhance students’ learning and performance outcomes. Such curricula often
included blended teaching models.
Student engagement may involve various motivations based on the classroom
model due to the character of face-to-face classroom time and out-of-class online
time. Researchers have observed that students in these blended classes “do not
Cheryl T. Clark, Associate Professor, School of Business, Georgia Gwinnett College. Lawrenceville, GA
30043. E-mail: cclark7@ggc.edu.

Summer 2020

19

seem to understand that they need to be engaged in course activities at other times
of the week in addition to just that one class meeting” [Parras et al., 2011, p. 52].
Faculty continue to explore effective approaches to teaching design and execution
to increase student learning and engagement; these approaches include the use of
flipped and hybrid classrooms [Allen, Seaman, and Garrett, 2007]. The purpose of
the present research is to identify whether the design of weekly quizzes affects
student preparation and learning, as demonstrated by exam performance in business courses that were both flipped and hybrid.
Previous research has compared quiz performance and exam performance in
a traditional classroom format. Most often, in traditional classes, students review
assigned content that is then presented and discussed in class. Conversely, both
flipped and hybrid classes are built on the expectation that students will come to
class prepared and ready to apply the assigned content in a variety of active and
experiential ways. Flipped courses, while typically having the same amount of
face-to-face class time as traditional classes, rely on students learning in advance
the information that would traditionally be presented in class lectures, thus
ensuring that class time can be used to further engage students with the material
through active learning. Hybrid courses, in addition to having students come to
class prepared, also split 50 percent/50 percent the contact hours between faceto-face class time and online work. Therefore, two factors that are important to
student learning in flipped and hybrid courses are
•
•

Students coming to class prepared to actively apply the concepts and
topics, and
Professors designing activities for the face-to-face time to maximize
student learning and engagement.

LITERATURE REVIEW
Flipped and hybrid courses have significantly increased in the past several
years, resulting in changes for both students and faculty. These course formats,
either individually or combined, utilize teaching approaches that involve different
skill sets than standard formats. These include leveraging online learning, learning
management systems, and active learning that gives students the benefit of greater
flexibility in time management [Osguthorpe and Graham, 2003]. For selfdisciplined and computer-savvy students, flipped/hybrid learning also accommodates a variety of learning styles.
Flipped Learning
The successful flipped environment provides students with materials (e.g.,
lectures, readings, videos, slides) in advance of classroom meetings to create a
base of knowledge on course topics; this makes it possible to utilize the in-class
time to expand critical thinking and real-world applications [Baepler, Walker, and
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Driessen, 2014]. Students benefit from flexibility in learning at their own pace
online and from the active learning classroom [Maisie, 2006]. As an active
student-centered learning approach, this format increases students’ skills in thinking about, applying, evaluating, and synthesizing information, which makes
students more eager to learn through real-world business situations [Bergman and
Sams; 2014, Flipped Learning Network, 2014; Wiginton, 2013]. Furthermore,
flipped learning allows students to develop skills in the classroom that can then be
transferred to the workplace.
Learning is further enhanced by the fact that classroom activities create a
more compelling collaborative and connective environment for both instructors
and students [Doeoring and Veletsianos, 2008]. With the growing availability,
enhancements, and use of learning management systems, smartphones, and tablets, flipped classroom learning “is the best model for using technology in
education” [Hamdan et al., 2013, p. 203]. Overall, strong evidence suggests that
the flipped classroom also improves student motivation, learning, and outcomes
[Smallhorn, 2017; Zhonggen and Wang, 2016].
Hybrid Learning
While there are many commonalities between flipped and hybrid courses, the
significant difference is in face-to-face time. Flipped courses have the same
number of face-to-face contact hours as traditional courses, while hybrid courses
split between online and face-to-face classroom time (e.g., 50/50). Hybrid courses
combine online and in-class activities to offer a variety of learning environments
that accommodate a variety of learning styles [Marquis and Ghosh, 2017; Blau et
al., 2017].
Since most of today’s college students have grown up using technology,
and faculty are often tech-savvy, implementation of online elements is not
only typical but also may have contributed to the continued growth of hybrid
classes. Research on hybrid learning suggests that “hybrid or blended models
most frequently emerge as the most effective learning strategy” [Skill and
Young, 2002, p. 24]. Since students determine when and how much time they
spend completing online activities in these models, they can complete work at
their own pace, allowing them to spend more time on areas of difficulty.
Hybrids also allow for great flexibility with nonschool activities such as work
and home life. Evidence indicates that hybrids have been particularly useful in
a variety of business courses [Chen and Jones, 2007; Mortera-Gutiérrez,
2006].
While student preferences for online versus face-to-face courses are mixed, a
study comparing hybrid and face-to-face courses found that the hybrid was
significantly preferred [Buzzetto-More, 2015]. Furthermore, the delivery method
for the hybrid course was perceived as more effective than the delivery method for
the strictly online course [Peslak et al., 2018].
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Active Learning
Active learning refers to “an instructional method in which students become
engaged participants in the classroom” [Dane-Staples, 2019, p. 11; Patrick et al.,
2016]. In the context of flipped and hybrid courses, active learning allows students
to use the knowledge acquired before the face-to-face class to engage in classroom activities. Students who are prepared benefit significantly from their outof-class material and in-class real-world business scenarios by offering their ideas,
engaging in discussion and problem-solving in small groups, and finally by
presenting their findings.
Quizzes
One approach to motivate student preparation before the in-class session
is the use of frequent quizzes [Harrison, 2016; Hovell, Williams, and Semb,
1979]. Keeping students “on track” with the out-of-class course materials in a
flipped/hybrid class is essential for in-class applications and activities. Ultimately, the effectiveness of the in-class sessions depends on student preparedness [Anakwe, 2018]. Quizzes are designed to reward preparation, improve
retention, and enhance student satisfaction. While students generally prefer fewer
quizzes [Tallarico and Wisniewski, 2017], frequent testing does enhance student
preparation and performance [Kika, McLaughlin, and Dixon, 1992; Dunlosky et
al., 2013]. Student surveys indicate that certain behaviors change due to frequent
quizzes, including reductions in delayed studying, procrastination, and cramming
for exams [Mawhinney et al., 1971; Bruce, 1998]. Moreover, the quizzing effect
goes beyond the snapshot of learning at the time of the quiz, as information
retrieval from memory significantly affects the retention of content [Karpicke and
Roediger, 2007].
The challenge that emerges from these findings is to determine how best to
optimize the benefits of quizzing students. While a quiz before the weekly in-class
session may serve as motivation for students to come to class prepared, postlecture exams “are typically instruments of assessment” [Harrison, 2016, p. 258].
Therefore, student performance on quizzes was not the measure for this study;
rather, the measure of student learning was the performance on exams.
RESEARCH QUESTIONS
Previous research studies have compared quiz performance and exam performance based on a traditional classroom format, in which students review the
content in-class that they have been assigned to read beforehand. Conversely,
student preparation before the in-class flipped/hybrid course impacts students’
ability to participate in the session’s active learning experience. Thus, the growth
of nontraditional formats (i.e., online, hybrid, and flipped classes) demands higher
degrees of student preparation.
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Table 1. Sample Descriptive Statistics
Factor
GPA
ⱕ3.5
ⱕ3.0
ⱕ2.5
⬍2.5

N

%

51
91
104
42

17
32
36
15

Standing
Sophomore
Junior
Senior

1
74
213

0
26
74

Factor
Concentration
Accounting
Economics
Finance
International
Management
Marketing
MIS
Other
Gender
Male
Female

N

%

41
13
32
24
75
72
29
2

14
5
11
8
26
25
10
1

120
168

42
58

This study adds to the literature in business education and blended learning by
exploring the design of quizzes in advance of face-to-face classes to identify
whether the “design” of quizzes improves student preparation for the face-to-face
class time as measured by exam performance. As such, it investigates the
following research questions:
1. Is there a relationship between student performance on preclass quizzes
and student performance on exams in flipped/hybrid courses?
2. When comparing three different quiz designs, do any demonstrate improvement in student preparation for the classroom session as measured
by exam performance in flipped/hybrid courses?
METHODOLOGY
Data Collection
To answer the two research questions, data were collected from 288 business
school students at a low-cost, four-year state college in the Southeastern United
States. Two different upper-level undergraduate business courses, Human Resource Management and Business Ethics, were used in this study. These
flipped/hybrid courses were offered in the spring semesters of 2016, 2017, and
2018. The same professor taught all courses.
The population was 42 percent male and 58 percent female. The class
standing included primarily seniors (74 percent), followed by juniors (26 percent),
and finally sophomores (less than 1 percent). The average GPA for the population
was 2.98 (based on a 4.0 scale). Lastly, students from all of the School of Business
were represented (Table 1).
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The student results for 941 exams and 3,004 quizzes were collected. All quiz
questions came from publisher test banks (Human Resource Management (HRM),
Pearson, and Ethics and Corporate Social Responsibility (E-CSR), Cengage
Learning) covering topics identified in the list of study terms provided by the
instructor.
In the first week of class, a 10-question multiple-choice chapter quiz was
administered and/or available to students. A different quiz design (A, B, or C) was
used in each of the three semesters; each design included specific time frames,
deadlines, and administration. Weekly quizzes were designed to motivate students
to review the resources for upcoming in-classroom sessions and to prepare
students with basic knowledge to apply the concepts utilizing business examples,
cases, and/or videos during the in-class time. Exams were
•
•
•
•

composed of multiple choice and short essay questions and scheduled
throughout the semester,
based on specific chapters (i.e., not cumulative),
taken online during an in-class session with faculty present, and
timed, with students earning no credit for questions answered after the
allowed time had expired.

The multiple-choice questions were scored in the Desire to Learn (D2L)
learning management system, the short essay questions were manually graded by
the professor in D2L, and the total exam scores were automatically posted in D2L.
The D2L exam grades (%) for each class/semester were exported to Excel by
course and semester for analysis.
In quiz design A, students were given access to the chapter quizzes in D2L at
least one week before the due date. Students could complete the quiz any time
before the deadline (10:00 p.m. the evening before the class) using any available
resources, including the Internet, textbooks, PowerPoint slides, and/or notes.
Those who did not complete the quiz on time did not earn credit. Grades were
automatically posted by D2L to the student’s class grade. Students could then go
back to review the results any time before the exam for the group of chapters.
Once the quiz period had ended, students had access to the correct quiz answers.
In quiz design B, students were given access to a block of quizzes in D2L
before the related exam. At the end of each block, an exam was given. Students
were given unlimited online access to the quizzes and unlimited attempts to
practice the quiz content. Since these quizzes were not graded or timed, students
could use any available resources and any timeframe to complete this self-directed
activity. The use of online self-assessment quizzes has demonstrated success as a
formative assessment strategy in undergraduate courses [Ćukušić, Garača, and
Jadrić, 2014].
In quiz design C, students were given a hard copy of the quiz questions and
a Scantron form to complete during the first 10 minutes of each class. No notes
or other resources were allowed. Students arriving late to class were given only
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the remainder of the timed period to complete the quiz. A countdown timer was
projected on the classroom screen. When the timer expired, all Scantrons and quiz
questions were collected. A Scantron machine was used to grade quizzes, which
were manually posted in D2L before the next in-class session. The quizzes were
then available in D2L for students to retake as a study tool before the exams.
Quiz questions, format, and timing were consistent during each semester but
varied with each design over each of the three semesters (Table 2).
DATA ANALYSES
For each quiz design, quiz and exam results data were exported from D2L to
Excel. For design A, students who missed a quiz or completed it after the deadline
were given a score of zero for the quiz. Design B results for students who did not
take the voluntary quiz were left blank and were not factored into the analysis or
into the student’s grade. The Scantron forms for the design C in-class quiz were
scanned, and results were manually entered into D2L grades. Students who
arrived late to class were given credit for correct answers before the 10-minute
deadline. A student who arrived after the quiz period ended or who was absent
received a zero for the quiz. To determine the strength of the relationship between
the quiz performance and exam performance, a Pearson correlation regression
analysis was conducted. Each group of quizzes related to an exam was analyzed
by each quiz design (A, B, and C). t tests were then used to determine any
significance when comparing the three designs (A-B, B-C, and A-C). A p-value
of 0.05 or below was used to determine significance in this study.
RESULTS
The Pearson correlation regression output for research question 1 showed a
very weak correlation between quiz performance and exam performance, indicating that doing well on the quizzes before the in-class session was not an indicator
of exam performance (see Table 3).
An ANOVA of exam performance for research question 2 showed an increase
in the mean average of design C over both design A and design B (7.9 percent and
5.8 percent, respectively) (See Table 4).
Since a p-value well below 0.05 indicated significant variation in the three
exam performance groups, a posttest (two-tailed t-test) was performed for each
design pair (Table 5).
Design C exam performance was significantly improved when compared to
that of both design A and design B. Furthermore, to ensure that we accounted for
the multiple comparisons, a Bonferroni correction was used to adjust the significance p-value to 0.0167, indicating that exam performance for design C is
significantly higher than that for both designs A and B.
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One

Yes

None

Unlimited Any

No

Resources
Allowed
During
Frequency Graded Attempts Exam
Weekly
Yes
One
Any

Delivery
Objective
Time Limit
Vehicle
Deadline
Design A,
Allowed students 30 minutes—allowed D2L online 10 p.m. the
Spring 2016 to learn while
time for students
evening
taking the quiz to look up and
prior to class
learn concepts
Design B,
Based on selfNo limit—allowed
D2L online None
None
Spring 2017 directed
students to learn
learning
at their own pace
Design C,
Measured what 10 minutes—reflected Scantron
After the first Weekly
in class
10 minutes of
Spring 2018 student had
student knowledge
each class
learned prior
prior to active
to class
learning activities

Table 2. Details of Quiz Designs

Table 3. Research Question 1: Correlation of Quiz Performance and Exam
Performance
R2
0.0418
0.028
0.064

Quiz Design
A
B
C

Table 4. Research Question 2: ANOVA Results of Exam Performance
Design
Design A
Design B
Design C
ANOVA
Source of Variation
Between Groups
Within Groups
Total

Exams
339
261
341

Sum
264.875
209.6203
293.56

SS
df
1.137137 2
14.88585 938
16.02299 940

Average
0.781342
0.803143
0.86088

Variance
0.01933
0.017074
0.011509

MS
F
p-value F crit
0.568568 35.82712 9.99E-16 3.00532
0.01587

ANOVA, analysis of variance; SS, Sum of squares; df, Degrees of freedom; MS, Mean
square; F, F-distribution; F-crit, Critical value for significance of an F test.

Table 5. Exam Performance Comparison Posttest t-Test
Mean
Variance
Observations
Pooled Variance
df
t stat
p (T<ⴝt) two-tail

Design A/Design B
0.781342
0.803143
0.019330
0.017074
339
261
0.01835
598
⫺1.9544
0.0511

Design B/Design C
0.803143
0.860880
0.017074
0.011509
261
341
0.01392
600
⫺5.9501
4.56E-09

Design A/Design C
0.781342
0.860880
0.019330
0.011509
339
341
0.01541
678
⫺8.3546
3.71E-16

DISCUSSION
In this business school, student preparation appears to be closely aligned with
student learning. Specifically, weekly quizzes appear to motivate students, at least
to some degree, to complete the prelecture materials before the in-class session.
Although the quiz given in-class resulted in the most significant improvement in
exam grades (design C), it did not provide a positive start to the class; students
were observed to be in a rush to ensure that they were on time or engaged in
last-minute studying, and faculty were always busy finding extra pencils and other
tools to meet student needs. While some have suggested that the quiz be given
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Table 6. Pros and Cons of Each Design
Pros
Design A

Design B

Design C

Online

Flexibility of access for
students
D2L graded
Little administration once
quiz was opened on D2L
Student access day or night
No pressure of a “timed”
quiz
Multiple resources
Motivated students to review
materials before class
Measured
knowledge/learning
Improved exam grades

Cons
Potential for students to take the
quiz as a group and/or share
answers

No grade motivation to take quiz
before in-class sessions
Students not prepared to engaged in
active learning exercises
Class time often used to review
previously assigned content
Student tardiness
Students viewed being on-time to
take the quiz as punitive
Manual administrative drain on
faculty
The use of limited in-class for
quizzes took time away from peer
and faculty interaction/active
learning

at the end of class, doing so would likely defeat the purpose of the
flipped/hybrid class, as some students might take class time to prepare for the
quiz and thus disengage from the real-world activities intended as practice for
the application of theory and concepts. Overall, each of the three designs had
pros and cons (Table 6).
A limitation of the present study is the ability to measure student preparation.
As an intervening variable in the current study, future research might identify
methods to capture student preparation to strengthen the results. Moreover, unless
flipped/hybrid courses are limited to upper-level students, the research should be
expanded to lower-level students. Lastly, a larger sample would allow for more
detailed analysis of exam performance related to student demographics.
NEXT STEPS
Despite the significant improvement in exam grades observed for design C,
the administration of quizzes during class time in this design takes away from
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in-class active learning sessions, and negative feedback was received from students regarding this design; thus, the design is not currently being used. Currently,
design A is now prepared with more randomized questions to minimize group
quiz taking, and the time has been reduced to 15 minutes to minimize looking up
answers, so as to more closely mirror design C. Ideally, more reviewing and
understanding of the materials will occur before the start of the quiz as a result of
these changes. Design C may be used again in the upcoming semesters once
upgrades to ensure improved Wi-Fi stability are implemented. Such technological
upgrades will enable automation of quiz distribution, grading, and posting of
grades, mitigating some of the negative aspects of design C that take away from
faculty preparation and in-class activity time.
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A Mini-Course Approach to Incorporate
IFRS into the Accounting Curriculum
Nancy L. Wilburn* and Bob G. Kilpatrick
The W. A. Franke College of Business, Northern Arizona University

This paper describes a mini-course approach to incorporate International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) into the accounting curriculum as an alternative to integration in the intermediate courses or a
separate three-credit-hour course. This approach has the primary benefits of promoting meaningful student learning while being cost-effective in
terms of faculty resources. Results from student assessments indicate that
the course learning goals were achieved, and student comments indicate
that the IFRS mini-course structure exceeded their expectations. A postgraduation survey of alumni who had taken the course confirms that the
mini-course structure was effective for the CPA exam and, for those who
pursued jobs in public accounting, enabled them to distinguish themselves
from other candidates in their job search and interview process.
Keywords: International, Accounting Curriculum
Disciplines of Interest: International Financial Accounting,
International Financial Reporting
INTRODUCTION
Increasing globalization of business, coupled with the European Union’s
requirement beginning in 2005 for member states to use International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), has led to an explosive growth worldwide, with
144 countries now requiring the use of IFRS [IFRS, 2018]. The Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) eliminated a requirement, effective in 2007, for
foreign private issuers to reconcile to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(U.S. GAAP) for trading in U.S. capital markets when financial statements are
prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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In 2010, the SEC issued a statement supporting convergence and global
accounting standards and established an IFRS Work Plan that identified key
considerations for its ultimate decision for incorporation of IFRS into the U.S.
financial reporting system [SEC, 2010]. However, the SEC’s final report on its
Work Plan found little support for adopting IFRS as authoritative guidance in the
United States [SEC, 2012]. Despite the lack of support for U.S. companies to
move to IFRS, SEC Chief Accountant Wes Bricker stated in his keynote address
before the 2016 American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
Conference on Current SEC and PCAOB Developments that “knowledge and
understanding of IFRS, including similarities and differences between U.S.
GAAP and IFRS, are highly relevant to stakeholders evaluating transactions and
related financial reporting obligations” [Bricker, 2016].
Thus, it is imperative for accounting students to become knowledgeable about
IFRS due to its widespread use globally and its impact on organizations operating
in the United States. In “A Comparison of IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP:
Bridging the Differences” [Deloitte, 2019], Deloitte states that an “understanding
of the differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS Standards may be relevant for:
•

•

•
•
•
•

U.S. entities that consolidate subsidiaries or other foreign operations that
report under IFRS Standards (or foreign subsidiaries that report under
IFRS Standards and provide financial statement information to a parent
entity that reports under U.S. GAAP).
U.S. entities that provide financial statement information to a parent
entity that reports under IFRS Standards (or foreign entities that report
under IFRS Standards and consolidate subsidiaries or other operations
that report under U.S. GAAP).
U.S. entities that negotiate transactions terms with entities that report
under IFRS Standards (and vice versa).
Investors and other users of financial statements that seek to compare
financial statements prepared under U.S. GAAP and IFRS Standards.
Standard setters and others that consider opportunities to converge accounting requirements.
Parties that participate in discussion on or seek to influence the development of new accounting requirements under U.S. GAAP or IFRS
Standards.”

Indeed, the largest international public accounting firms have indicated that
they expect graduates to have awareness of issues and a working knowledge of
IFRS. Additionally, the AICPA began testing IFRS knowledge on the CPA exam
in 2011.
The purpose of this paper is to discuss the use of an alternative mini-course
approach to incorporate IFRS into the undergraduate accounting curriculum. In
subsequent sections, we review typical approaches to incorporating IFRS, describe the mini-course approach we developed, discuss results from student
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evaluations of learning outcomes, course design and delivery, assessment of
student learning, and alumni evaluations of the effectiveness of course outcomes.
TYPICAL APPROACHES TO INCORPORATING IFRS
KPMG, LLP, and the American Accounting Association (AAA) have conducted periodic national surveys of academicians regarding integrating IFRS into
the accounting curriculum. The most recent survey in 2014 indicated that the most
challenging aspects of integrating IFRS are:
•
•
•

making room in the curriculum for IFRS,
developing curriculum materials for IFRS, and
training faculty to teach IFRS.

Other concerns include confusion on the part of students learning two sets of
standards, administrative/budgetary concerns, and faculty interest and/or resistance to change [AAA IAS Teaching and Committee and KPMG, LLP, 2014].
Additional survey results included the finding that about 55 percent of
respondents indicate that IFRS was already incorporated significantly into their
curriculum. Of universities incorporating IFRS into the accounting curriculum, a
significant majority (64 percent) say they have integrated IFRS into an existing
course, mostly into intermediate accounting with inclusion of one to two equivalent credit hours of coverage. Other universities have created separate courses at
the graduate level (19 percent) or undergraduate level (17 percent) [AAA IAS
Teaching and Committee and KPMG, LLP, 2014].
Prior research providing instructional guidance on incorporating IFRS into the
accounting curriculum reflects the above distribution of the different approaches.
For example, the 2012 edition of Advances in Accounting Education included a
special section on IFRS in which four of the five articles describe various
approaches for integrating IFRS into existing coursework, ranging from introductory through intermediate and advanced accounting, auditing, and MBA (financial
analysis) courses [Allen, Mastilak, Randolph, and Weickgenannt, 2012; Rich,
Cherubini, and Zhu, 2012; Alon, 2012; Holtzblatt, Tschakert, and Abu-Khadra,
2012]. Instructional guidance for dedicated three-credit-hour IFRS courses at the
graduate and undergraduate levels include Grimm and Hoag [2012] and Glover
and Werner [2016].
From a student learning perspective, the major disadvantage of the approach
that integrates IFRS into the intermediate accounting courses is that it requires
incorporating them by sacrificing coverage of critical content from the everexpanding body of accounting topics. The first intermediate course covers a
variety of challenging topics and is widely considered one of the most difficult
courses in the accounting major [Shoulders and Hicks, 2008; Eikner and Montondon, 2001], and its curriculum has been criticized for already being over-
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crowded [Burnett, Xu, and Kennedy, 2010]. Furthermore, integration was found
to lead to “information overload and confusion,” exacerbated by introducing IFRS
when students are initially learning GAAP rules in intermediate accounting
coursework [Kang, Liu, and Hsiao, 2016].
Offering any form of a separate stand-alone course in comparison with the
integration approach requires incremental faculty resources. One of the top
challenges identified in the AAA/KPMG survey was training faculty to teach
IFRS. From a resource perspective, faculty shortages, the required specialized
training, and budgetary limitations place pressure on offering coursework that
may be considered “supplementary,” such as IFRS [Glover and Werner, 2016].
Especially for universities that previously did not have a separate international
course, the consideration of how best to incorporate IFRS into the accounting
curriculum is more significant.
DESCRIPTION OF THE MINI-COURSE APPROACH
Based on considerations of trade-offs concerning the goal of meaningful
student learning and the faculty resources required to incorporate IFRS into our
accounting curriculum, we opted for offering a new elective mini-course at our
university as an alternative to the “all-or-nothing” approaches of either integrating
IFRS material throughout the intermediate courses or developing a separate
three-credit-hour stand-alone course. We decided that only one of the accounting
faculty at our university would pursue the training needed to learn about IFRS.
One of the authors was granted a sabbatical for this training, which included
completion of several continuing professional education (CPE) courses, public
accounting firm webcasts, and the AICPA’s IFRS Certificate Program. The
support of our university allowed us to efficiently address one of the top challenges identified in the KPMG/AAA survey of training faculty to teach IFRS.
Course Learning Goals
We established the course learning goals based on the consideration of
background knowledge from the CPE courses and webcasts, along with consideration of IFRS-awareness levels for new recruits specified by PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) and the IFRS knowledge students need for the CPA exam.
PwC specifies pre-awareness level tasks of (a) define what IFRS stands for,
(b) articulate the general uses of IFRS and U.S. GAAP, and (c) recognize that
IFRS will be important in the future. Awareness level tasks are: (a) articulate the
sources of U.S. GAAP and IFRS, (b) describe IFRS financial statements, (c) identify a difference between IFRS and U.S. GAAP, and (d) explain the current status
of IFRS in the United States and a likely timetable for adoption [Wyer, 2008].
When the AICPA Board of Examiners (the Board) initially announced that
IFRS would be tested on the CPA exam, it indicated that exam takers should
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Table 1. International Financial Reporting Course Learning Goals
Upon completion of the course students will be able to:
A. Demonstrate a thorough understanding of the background of IFRS and its current
status in the U.S.
B. Compare and contrast financial statement presentation under IFRS versus U.S.
GAAP.
C. Identify primary differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP for financial statement
elements.
D. Demonstrate an understanding of first-time adoption of IFRS.
E. Demonstrate an understanding of the current status of convergence between IFRS
and U.S. GAAP.

exhibit adequate competence in international standards in much the same way that
they should exhibit competence in U.S. GAAP. In the announcement, the Board
released sample IFRS multiple-choice questions for CPA candidates, and noted
that IFRS may be tested in more than one question format [AICPA, 2010]. The
most recent Blueprints for the Financial Accounting and Reporting section of the
CPA exam [AICPA Board of Examiners Examinations Team, 2018] specify
testing of differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP as follows:
•
•

Remembering and understanding skill level: Identify accounting and
reporting differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP.
Application skill level: Determine the impact of the differences between
IFRS and U.S. GAAP on the financial statements.

When the course was originally designed, the Content and Skill Specifications
for the Uniform CPA Examination additionally specified first-time adoption of
IFRS related to financial reporting, presentation and disclosures in generalpurpose financial statements and the process by which international standards are
set, and the role of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) [AICPA
Board of Examiners Examinations Team, 2009].
The recommended the course learning goals shown in Table 1 were discussed
with our Accounting Advisory Council and approved by the accounting faculty at
our university.
Course Design and Delivery
We designed an elective one-credit-hour mini-course, International Financial
Reporting, to integrate IFRS in the undergraduate curriculum at the senior level,
with the two intermediate accounting courses as prerequisites. Approximately one
third of our students elected to take the course. A comparison of students who
took the course versus those who did not indicates that higher performing students
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Table 2. Suggested Daily Schedule for Topical Coverage in an IFRS 8-week
Mini-Course
Day
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16

Topic
Introduction to IFRS
Introduction to IFRS
Conceptual framework
Key differences: financial statements
Key differences: financial statements
Key differences: assets–inventory
Key differences: assets–property, plant and equipment
Mid-term exam
Key differences: assets–intangibles
Key differences: assets–impairments
Key differences: assets–impairments
Key differences: assets– contingencies and liabilities
Key differences: business combinations and consolidations
First-time adoption of IFRS
Updates on current standard-setting projects
Final Exam

from the two intermediate accounting courses were more likely to enroll. Students
who took the course had a grade point average (GPA) of 2.94 in the intermediate
courses, which was significantly higher (one-tailed t-test, p-value ⫽ 0.018) than
that of students who did not, with a GPA of 2.63.
The course has been offered one semester per year, meeting twice per week
in 50-minute class periods for eight weeks. Student feedback on this structure has
been very positive; in particular, they liked that the course was conducted in an
accelerated format. Table 2 provides a suggested daily schedule for topical
coverage under the current mini-course structure to achieve the course learning
goals.
Developing curriculum materials proved to be the most significant challenge
in delivering the course (confirming one of the top challenges identified in the
KPMG/AAA survey). When the course was first delivered, no books that were
appropriate for a 1-credit-hour course were available, and IFRS material was not
yet included in intermediate textbooks. Because of the lack of traditional textbook
materials and the rapidly changing accounting environment due to the ambitious
convergence agenda of the IASB/ Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
at that time, we used materials from the Ernst & Young (EY) IFRS Curriculum
[EYARC]. Use of this material has the advantages of adding a real-world
connection and benefiting from periodic updating by EY (although updating was
discontinued in 2016), but has the disadvantage of the need to invest considerable
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Table 3. Student Evaluations of Achievement for Course Learning Goals
Percentage of Students (nⴝ60)
Course Learning Goal
A. Demonstrate a thorough understanding of the
background of IFRS and its current status in
the United States.
B. Compare and contrast financial statement
presentation under IFRS versus U.S. GAAP.
C. Identify primary differences between IFRS
and U.S. GAAP for measurement of financial
statement elements.
D. Demonstrate an understanding of first-time
adoption of IFRS.
E. Demonstrate an understanding of the current
status of convergence plans between IFRS
and U.S. GAAP.

Strongly
agree
58.3

Agree
40.0

Neutral
1.7

Disagree
0

Strongly
disagree
0

Mean*
4.57

Std.
Dev.
0.53

65.0

35.0

0

0

0

4.65

0.48

71.7

26.7

1.7

0

0

4.70

0.50

48.3

41.7

6.7

3.3

0

4.35

0.76

53.3

41.7

3.3

1.7

0

4.47

0.65

*Calculated on a 5-point scale, where strongly agree ⫽ 5.

time and thought to extensively edit, mainly to reduce the vast content to an
amount appropriate for a one-credit-hour course. Since then, intermediate accounting textbooks have added IFRS coverage, although these are typically
updated only on a three-year cycle.
To facilitate students’ understanding of primary differences, the delivery of
course concepts uses side-by-side comparisons of U.S. GAAP and IFRS. When
appropriate, students work examples (from the EY curriculum materials) in
assigned class teams under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This approach has the
advantages of allowing students to apply concepts that both review prior knowledge and gain new knowledge.
ASSESSMENT OF COURSE EFFECTIVENESS
Student Evaluations – Learning Outcomes
We used a feedback survey to assess students’ opinions regarding the effectiveness in achieving the course learning goals, as well as their opinions on
various course aspects. We designed and administered the survey in a way to
ensure the students’ anonymity and asked for their honest, thoughtful, and
constructive feedback. As an incentive, students were awarded extra credit equal
to 1.5 percent of the course grade, and 60 surveys were submitted for the 63
students, for a 95 percent response rate. Results concerning the students’ selfassessment of their achievement with respect to the course learning goals are
presented in Table 3.
Results indicate that the students believed course learning goals were
achieved, with strong agreement or agreement ranging from 90 percent to 97
percent and means of 4.3 to 4.7 on all goals, with the strongest results for “identify
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primary differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP for measurement of financial
statement elements.”
Student Evaluations – Course Structure, Design, and Delivery
Student comments on the course structure, design, and delivery were highly
favorable. The mini-course design versus integration approach allows students to
maintain focus on U.S. GAAP in the intermediate courses. Indeed, select student
comments from open-response questions in the course feedback survey (presented
in Table 4) indicate that the intermediate courses are difficult enough already with
just U.S. GAAP, and integrating IFRS would likely confuse and overwhelm them.
Students also expressed the concern that if IFRS were incorporated into the other
courses, the topic would not be able to be heavily emphasized because the other
courses already have a significant amount of information. Student comments also
indicated that they believed having a separate sequential course using side-by-side
comparisons of primary differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP allows students to better focus on learning key IFRS material while reinforcing U.S. GAAP
material. As one student commented, “You need some sort of base understanding
with various accounting concepts in order to really understand the differences
between [U.S.] GAAP and IFRS.”
Assessment of Student Learning
To corroborate the students’ self-assessment of their achievement of
course learning goals, we also examined their performance on the exams
related to each course learning goal. Exams comprised multiple-choice questions (two thirds) and problems (one third). To ensure appropriate rigor and
sufficient coverage on the exams, multiple-choice questions included sample
IFRS questions published by the AICPA [AICPA, 2010] and questions
adapted from the true/false or multiple-choice questions in the homework
from the EY IFRS curriculum modules [EYARC]. Exam problems were
adapted from the in-class examples and homework problems contained in the
EY IFRS curriculum modules.
Assessment of course learning goals on exams was weighted, corresponding
to the amount of class time spent on the topics. The heaviest-weighted goal on
exams was related to “identify primary differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP
for measurement of financial statement elements,” with 57 percent of possible
points. All of the problems were related to this goal, whereas the multiple-choice
questions were related to all of the learning goals. We divided performance into
three categories, consistent with our university program assessment of learning
reporting. These categories were “exceeds expectations” for scores of at least
90 percent of possible points, “meets expectations” for scores of at least 70
percent and less than 90 percent, and “below expectations” for scores of less than
70 percent.
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Table 4. Student Comments Regarding the Course
Course structure (separate one-credit hour mini-course vs. integration
throughout the other financial reporting courses):
● 关Intermediate and Advanced courses兴 are hard enough already with just US
GAAP. Introducing IFRS there will only confuse the students.
● You need some sort of base understanding with various accounting concepts in
order to really understand the differences between GAAP and IFRS.
● I feel I am a better, more conceptual accountant because of the class.
● It allowed the students to focus purely on learning the IFRS material. If it was
incorporated into the other classes, the topic would not be able to be heavily
emphasized since the other courses already have a significant amount of
information in the class.
● Having a separate IFRS course makes sense since it gives motivated students an
opportunity to learn distinctly how both US GAAP and IFRS are to be applied . . . 关and兴
to do a little extra and learn something that isn’t explicitly required; I like that I’ve had
the chance to add this to my repertoire and at my discretion.
Course design and delivery (side-by-side comparisons of U.S. GAAP and IFRS to
understand primary differences):
● The comparison approach was more effective than focusing only on IFRS. Comparing
the familiar GAAP aspects to the new IFRS concepts really helped me to understand the
differences. I also believe that these comparisons helped us strengthen our established
GAAP knowledge.
● The combination of delivery methods worked quite well in my opinion. I’ve never been
a huge fan of PowerPoints but in this class I believe that it was very effective and
efficient. The handouts that we received were great for discussion of the progress of
current projects and the opinions of those involved. I also like the team-based approach
to working examples before covering them as a class.
● The example problems are probably the best way to fully grasp the concept since they
allow me to apply the theory to a tangible example. Theory on its own isn’t always
accessible for immediate learning.
Overall (course meeting student expectations):
● This class was very helpful in gaining an introduction about IFRS. I feel like I will have
the knowledge needed to pass the CPA exam and a good introduction to concepts that I
might be using in an accounting job in the future.
● The class exceeded my expectations; it provided me with not only an understanding
of what’s currently going on but also an understanding of the IASB and their
thought behind their standards. I liked having the . . . class . . . be an elective
because it meant that the other students were there because they wanted to learn the
material and not because it was required.
● Overall I think the course was excellent. I feel prepared to discuss IFRS differences
at interviews or in general.
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Table 5. Assessment of Student Performance for Course Learning Goals

Course Learning Goal (percentage weight
tested on exams)*
A. Demonstrate a thorough understanding of the
background of IFRS and its current status in
the United States (15%).
B. Compare and contrast financial statement
presentation under IFRS versus U.S. GAAP
(19%).
C. Identify primary differences between IFRS
and U.S. GAAP for measurement of financial
statement elements (57%).
D. Demonstrate an understanding of first-time
adoption of IFRS (9%).

Percentage of Students
Meets
Exceeds
Expectations
Below
Expectations
> 70% &
Expectations
> 90%
< 90%
< 70%
79.4
15.9
4.8

Mean**
93.2

Std.
Dev.
10.5

60.3

38.1

1.6

89.8

9.5

52.4

36.5

11.1

90.5

6.6

20.6

66.7

12.7

81.0

13.9

*Although convergence issues are covered throughout the course, these were not included
on the exams for assessment because they were in initial deliberation or proposal stage and
would not be tested on the CPA exam until after final pronouncements are issued.
**Calculated as a percentage of points possible on exams for each course learning goal.

Results from the exam assessments reported in Table 5 were consistent
with the students’ self-perceptions of their achievement. As expected with
higher-ability students taking this course, mean scores were very high for the
course learning goals of demonstrating an understanding of the background of
IFRS (93.2 percent), financial statement presentation (89.8 percent), and
primary differences for measurement of financial statement elements (90.5
percent), with a majority of students exceeding expectations on all these
goals.
Post-Graduation Survey of Effectiveness of Course Outcomes
To provide evidence of the effectiveness of the IFRS mini-course in meeting
externally relevant outcomes related to the CPA exam and the job search, we
conducted a post-graduation survey of alumni who were included in the assessments discussed above. The survey was distributed via LinkedIn and designed so
that respondents were anonymous. Of the 63 students from the course, 53 (84.1
percent) had LinkedIn profiles and connections with the authors. We individually
messaged each alumnus and alumna with the survey request and link and received
41 responses, for a 77.4 percent response rate. Results from this survey are
presented in Table 6.
Panel A reports the first set of course outcomes related to the CPA exam. Of
the 41 survey respondents, 33 (80 percent) had taken the Financial Accounting
and Reporting (FAR) section of the exam. We asked those alumni to evaluate two
statements: “The IFRS mini-course was sufficient for my preparation for IFRS for
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Table 6. Alumni Evaluations of Course Outcomes (n⫽41)
Panel A: IFRS Mini-Course Effectiveness for CPA Exam (taken FAR section of CPA exam: yes ⴝ33)
Percentage of Respondents
Strongly
Strongly
Statement:
agree
Agree
Neutral
Disagree
disagree
The IFRS mini-course was sufficient for my
79
21
0
0
0
preparation for IFRS for the CPA Exam
The IFRS mini-course was sufficient for
73
24
3
0
0
answering IFRS-related questions on my
CPA Exam
Panel B: IFRS Mini-Course Effectiveness for Job Search
Percentage of Respondents
Statement: The IFRS mini-course enabled
me to distinguish myself from other
candidates in my job search and
Strongly
Strongly
interview process.
agree
Agree
Neutral
Disagree
disagree
First accounting employer after graduation:
● Public accounting (n⫽26)
23
46
27
4
0
● Industry (n⫽7)
0
29
71
0
0
● Government / Not-For-Profit (n⫽5)
0
40
40
20
0
● Not employed in accounting position
0
0
67
33
0
(n⫽3)

Mean*
4.8

Std.
Dev.
0.4

4.7

0.5

Mean*

Std.
Dev.

3.9
3.3
3.2
2.7

0.8
0.5
0.7
0.5

*Calculated on a 5-point scale, where strongly agree ⫽ 5.

the CPA exam” and “The IFRS mini-course was sufficient for answering IFRSrelated questions on my CPA exam.” Results from both statements indicate that
the course achieved a high level of sufficiency for CPA exam preparation and
performance related to IFRS. The mean evaluation for preparation sufficiency was
4.8, with 79 percent in strong agreement and 21 percent in agreement; the mean
evaluation for performance sufficiency in answering questions was 4.7, with 73
percent in strong agreement and 24 percent in agreement.
In the original student feedback survey, some indicated that they viewed
the course as a way to distinguish themselves to potential employers. Panel B
reports our alumni’s reflective assessment of the effectiveness of the IFRS
mini-course in their job searches, with results for survey respondents grouped
by their first employer after graduation. We asked our alumni to evaluate the
statement, “The IFRS mini-course enabled me to distinguish myself from
other candidates in my job search and interview process.” At our university,
the majority of our graduates typically accept positions with public accounting
firms; 63 percent of the survey’s respondents were from public accounting, in
comparison with 17 percent from industry and 12 percent from government/not-for-profit. The mean evaluation for this statement for respondents
whose first employer after graduation was in public accounting was 3.9, with
69 percent in strong agreement or agreement. Mean evaluations for graduates
whose first position was in industry or government/not-for-profit were lower
at 3.3 and 3.2, respectively. Not surprisingly, graduates whose first position
was in public accounting assessed the course as being more useful in the job
search and interview process since public accounting firms expect their
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professionals to earn the CPA and work with a broader range of tasks and
clients than other types of employers.
ADVANTAGES AND DISADVANTAGES OF THE MINI-COURSE
APPROACH
To incorporate IFRS into our accounting curriculum at our university, we
developed a new elective mini-course as an alternative to the “all-or-nothing”
approaches of either integrating IFRS material throughout the intermediate
courses or developing a separate three-credit-hour stand-alone course. Advantages
and disadvantages are discussed below.
Student Learning
The mini-course approach versus the integration approach has the advantage
of maintaining focus on U.S. GAAP in the intermediate courses. As previously
discussed, confusion on the part of students when learning two sets of standards
was one of the challenging aspects of integrating IFRS identified in the
AAA/KPMG Survey. A well-established component in learning theory is the
assertion that the availability of anchoring ideas facilitates meaningful learning;
antecedent learning usually performs this function. That is, meaningful learning is
anchored; rote learning is not [Ausubel and Fitzgerald, 1962]. Thus, a primary
advantage of a separate sequential course is that students can focus on learning
key IFRS material while anchoring to and reinforcing U.S. GAAP material from
prior courses. In our post-graduation assessment of course outcomes, alumni
indicated that the mini-course approach was sufficient for their CPA exam
preparation and performance related to IFRS. The primary disadvantage of using
an elective versus a required course to deliver IFRS is that students who do not
enroll in the course lack meaningful exposure to IFRS.
Required Faculty Resources
One of the top challenges identified in the AAA/KPMG survey was training
faculty to teach IFRS. Especially for universities that previously did not have a
separate international course, the consideration of the IFRS integration approach
is more significant. A major benefit of the mini-course approach with only one
faculty member responsible for IFRS delivery versus an integrated approach is
cost savings in terms of the university resources required to support multiple
faculty in obtaining the necessary IFRS training.
Of course, offering any form of a separate stand-alone course compared to the
integration approach requires incremental faculty resources, which is a disadvantage in times of budgetary shortfalls and deployment of potentially limited faculty
resources. However, the incremental faculty resources required for a separate
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stand-alone course are mitigated with a mini-course approach versus a threecredit-hour course, because the faculty resources required for offering a minicourse three times is equivalent to offering a three-credit-hour course only once.
At our university, offering the IFRS course only once per year allows for a
commensurate credit equivalent to a three-credit-hour course (i.e. a course load
release) once every three years.
Finally, a mini-course approach reduces overall faculty opportunity costs in
terms of time required to learn IFRS material, because only one faculty member
is responsible for delivery, versus multiple faculty. This is especially true in larger
universities with multiple sections of the intermediate courses taught by different
faculty. Additionally, for universities that previously did not include an international course, the faculty time to learn IFRS and develop course materials is much
less onerous for a one-credit-hour course versus a three-credit-hour course.
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS
This paper describes a mini-course approach to incorporating IFRS into the
accounting curriculum as an alternative to the “all-or-nothing” approaches of
either integrating IFRS material throughout the intermediate courses or developing a separate three-credit-hour stand-alone course. This approach has the primary
benefits of being cost-effective in terms of university and faculty resources
required, while still promoting meaningful student learning of IFRS material.
Student comments indicate that the IFRS mini-course design and side-by-side
delivery method exceeded their expectations with respect to their understanding
of the material. Alumni feedback corroborates the effectiveness of the mini-course
outcomes for the CPA exam. In deciding the best approach for incorporating IFRS
into the accounting curriculum, universities should consider the needs of students
for the CPA exam, the desired student skill sets of their specific recruiters, and the
costs of faculty training and course delivery.
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The New Leasing Requirements – A Case
Study and Teaching Notes
Linda Hughen, Bridget Lyons, and Barbara Tarasovich
Jack Welch College of Business, Sacred Heart University

The case introduces lease accounting in accordance with the new Financial Accounting Standards Board standard. Students are required to
evaluate the impact of acquiring equipment by entering into a finance or
operating lease. They must calculate the impact of three different accounting treatments for leases on the balance sheet, income statement,
and key ratios. In addition, they are asked to record the necessary journal
entries over the lease term under each alternative, discuss the major
differences on the financial statements and ratios, discuss the new disclosures, and evaluate the differences that would arise if the company
reports under International Financial Reporting Standards.
Keywords: Leasing, Finance Lease, Operating Lease, ROA, ROE,
Debt to Equity
Disciplines of Interest: Financial Accounting, Corporate Finance,
Management Accounting
INTRODUCTION
BLB Co. is a global food company headquartered in Fairfield, Connnecticut,
with annual sales of $261 million. The company manufactures and markets a wide
range of soups, meals, snacks, and beverages and is publicly traded on the New
York Stock Exchange. The corporation has certain operating leases, primarily
related to manufacturing equipment and warehouse and office facilities. However,
several of the company’s smaller divisions have historically purchased fixed
assets.
In February 2019, Ashley Shannon started her new career at BLB Co. as a
newly minted CPA. She was hired as a staff accountant in the financial reporting
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department of the Soup Division and is eager to make a good impression on her
boss, the Director of Finance Joe Whitman.
The company’s CFO, Donna Lancaster, has decided that BLB’s Soup Division needs to boost market share and profitability. She has read about new
innovative tube packaging for soups on the go. With this new tube design, the
standard cap is replaced with a spoon. The tube contains soup as a paste. The
spoon is removed from the tube and used to stir the paste into a cup of hot water
to create soup on the go. To retool the manufacturing facility, BLB’s Soup
Division will need to acquire new machinery and equipment to manufacture the
tube container and is planning to lease the equipment instead of purchasing it.
The Situation
Ashley is having lunch in the cafeteria when Donna walks in and asks her how
the analysis of acquiring the new tube equipment is progressing. “Hello, Ashley.
Can you give me an update on the leasing of the new soup packaging equipment?”
Donna says with a smile. “I tried to ask Joe for an update, but his assistant just told
me he’s on a plane to Singapore, and I can’t get in touch with him.” Donna hands
Ashley a folder and tells her she needs to give an update on leasing the new soup
equipment to the board of directors by 9:00 the next morning. “I would like your
opinion, Ashley, on whether we should structure the lease as a finance or
operating lease.” Donna continues, “I would also like you to inform the board of
the impact of the new lease accounting rules on the financials.” A copy of the
documents given to Ashley are included in Exhibit I.
Ashley knows that, as of 2019, new leasing rules are in effect, and she needs
to consider how structuring the new lease as a finance or an operating lease will
affect the company’s financial performance and position. She has worked with her
boss, Joe, on the project and remembers considering the alternatives of structuring
the equipment lease so it is reported in the financial statements as either an
operating or a finance lease. Ashley needs to analyze the decision and provide a
recommendation to the CFO and board of directors. She begins to review the
information requested by the CFO and think about how she will summarize her
findings to present to the board. Ashley determines she will not change any of the
other financial assumptions in the forecast to highlight the lease decision in the
projected financial statements.
Project Information
The firm would sign a five-year lease to begin on January 1, 2019, with an
option to extend the lease for an additional five years. Due to market conditions,
the lessor does not offer a lease incentive. At the commencement date, BLB Co.
is not reasonably certain that it will exercise the option to extend the lease, so it
determines the lease term to be 5 years. The rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable, but BLB Co.’s incremental borrowing rate is six percent. BLB Co.
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will make the $47,000 annual lease payments at the end of each year. BLB has been
in negotiations with the bank that will provide the lease and has the option of tailoring the
lease such that it can qualify as a finance lease or an operating lease.
1. Finance Lease
If structured as a finance lease, each year of the lease term, BLB Co. will
recognize lease interest expense and amortization expense of the right-of-use
(ROU) asset. The lease liability is amortized in accordance with the effective
interest method.
2. Operating Lease
Alternatively, BLB could structure the lease as an operating lease. Each year
of the lease term, BLB will recognize one operating expense (lease expense) and
reduce both the lease asset and the lease liability by this amount.
Assignment Questions
Review all the information on the new standard in Appendix 1
1. Prepare Table 1 and Table 2 in for the vice president (VP) of Finance.
2. List the journal entries required at inception and at the end of each year
if (a) the lease is treated as a finance lease and (b) the lease is treated as
an operating lease
3. Using Tables 3-5, complete the income statement and balance sheet for
BLB’s Soup Division (shown in Exhibit 1) assuming three scenarios: the
lease is classified (a) as an operating lease under the previous standard, (b)
as an operating lease under the new standard, and (c) as a finance lease
under the new standard. Assume the company uses a 35 percent tax rate
for financial reporting purposes.
4. Calculate the impact of recording the lease as a finance or operating lease
on the following key financial ratios: operating profit margin, net profit
Table 1. Finance Lease Schedule

Year
1
2
3
4
5

Cash
Payment

Lease
Liability,
Beg. bal.

Interest
Expense

Repayment
of Lease
Liability

Lease
Liability,
End. bal.

ROU asset,
Beg. bal.

Amortization
expense

ROU asset,
End. bal.

Note: ROU, Right-of-Use.
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Table 2. Operating Lease Schedule

Year
1
2
3
4
5

Cash
Payment

Lease
Liability,
Beg. bal.

Interest
Expense

Repayment
of Lease
Liability

Lease
Liability,
End. bal.

ROU asset,
Beg. bal.

Lease
expense

ROU asset,
End. bal.

Note: ROU, Right-of-Use.

5.

6.

7.
8.

9.

margin, return on assets, return on common stockholders’ equity, debt to
equity, liabilities to equity, and debt to assets.
Based on your analysis of the income statement, balance sheet, and ratios,
discuss the benefits to BLB’s Soup Division of the operating lease
classification.
Based on your analysis of the income statement, balance sheet, and ratios,
discuss the benefits to BLB’s Soup Division of the financing lease
classification.
List some of the new financial statement disclosure requirements under
both scenarios.
Identify any differences if the company reported under International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) instead of under U.S. Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP).
Ashley must present her recommendation to the CFO and the board of
directors. One of the board members is a major shareholder and is
representing the stockholders. Another board member is a senior executive at BLB Co. and has raised concerns about the company’s credit
quality and the impact that the lease accounting rules may have on the
company’s ability to maintain long-term borrowings with lenders. Assume that you are in Ashley’s position and discuss your recommendation
to the board, including information that addresses the concerns of shareholders as well as those of the creditors

Exhibit I – Schedules and Financial Statements for the VP of Finance
3. Financial Statements – Impact to each year’s financial statement
Complete tables 3-5 shown below. The tables reflect the impact of the lease
under three scenarios:
Table 3 – Previous standard – lease treated as an operating lease
Table 4 – New standard – lease treated as an operating lease
Table 5 – New standard – lease treated as a finance lease
When adjusting the 5 years of financial statements for the impact of each type
of lease, note that:
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Table 3. Operating Lease – Previous Standard

Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Lease expense
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Right of use lease asset
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Lease liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current ratio
Return on assets
Return on common stockholders’ equity
Liabilities to equity
Debt to equity
Debt to assets
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
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1
261,240
156,744

Operating lease – previous standard
2
3
4
261,240
261,240
261,240
156,744
156,744
156,744

5
261,240
156,744

36,574

36,574

36,574

36,574

36,574

486

486

486

486

486

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

7,045

7,045

7,045

7,045

7,045

2,550

2,550

2,550

2,550

2,550

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131
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Table 4. Operating Lease – New Standard

Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Lease expense
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Right of use lease asset
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Lease liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current ratio
Return on assets
Return on common stockholders’ equity
Liabilities to equity
Debt to equity
Debt to assets
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
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1
261,240
156,744

Operating lease - new standard
2
3
4
261,240
261,240
261,240
156,744
156,744
156,744

5
261,240
156,744

36,574

36,574

36,574

36,574

36,574

486

486

486

486

486

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

7,045

7,045

7,045

7,045

7,045

2,550

2,550

2,550

2,550

2,550

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131
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Table 5. Finance Lease – New Standard

Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Lease expense
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Right of use lease asset
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Lease liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current ratio
Return on assets
Return on common stockholders’ equity
Liabilities to equity
Debt to equity
Debt to assets
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
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1
261,240
156,744

Financing lease - new standard
2
3
4
261,240
261,240
261,240
156,744
156,744
156,744

5
261,240
156,744

36,574

36,574

36,574

36,574

36,574

486

486

486

486

486

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

39,499
16,197
23,302

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

1,388
586

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

336
6,328
1,872
1,506

7,045

7,045

7,045

7,045

7,045

2,550

2,550

2,550

2,550

2,550

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131

90
18,112
50,131
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•
•

•
•
•
•

All fields highlighted in blue represent calculated values; enter the
appropriate formulas.
All fields highlighted in yellow should be determined based on the lease.
Any values shown in fields highlighted in yellow represent non-leaserelated values; determine whether these values need to be adjusted for the
lease and if so, include the necessary adjustment.
Net income is paid out in dividends each period.
All revenue and non-lease-related expenses are cash transactions. Lease
payments are made in cash when due at the end of each year.
The company’s cash balance will not be affected by the lease payment if
the lease payment is equal to the lease expense for the period. This is
because any net income earned during the period is paid out in dividends.
If the lease expense is greater than the cash payment, the difference will
increase the company’s cash account on the balance sheet. These differences will be cumulative over time.

APPENDIX 1 – NEW LEASING STANDARD
In 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) introduced a new
accounting standard on leasing—ASU, 2016-02—which amended ASC Topic
842, Leases, and is effective for public firms for reporting periods beginning
December 15, 2018. The core principle in the standard is FASB’s belief that all
leases create an asset and a liability for the lessee and should therefore be
recognized as such.
Under prior standards, leases were deemed to be either financial or operating
based on a number of conditions, including the lease term as a percent of the
useful life of the asset and the lease value compared with the asset value.
Simplifying, the short-term leasing of an asset which did not involve transfer of
ownership was an operating lease. If most of the value and useful life of the asset
were included in the lease, then it was considered a financial lease. The assets and
liabilities of leases that were deemed financial leases were reported on the firm’s
balance sheets, whereas the assets and liabilities of leases deemed operating leases
were not on the firm’s balance sheets.
FASB notes that the new standard will improve lease accounting in several
ways. See https://www.fasb.org/jsp/FASB/Page/ImageBridgePage&cid⫽117616
9253354#section_2
The new guidance:
Provides a clearer representation of a lessee’s rights and obligations
arising from leases
Results in fewer opportunities for organizations to structure leasing
transactions to achieve a particular outcome on the balance sheet
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Improves understanding and comparability of lessees’ financial statements
More closely aligns lessor accounting and sales and leaseback transaction
guidance with the new revenue recognition standards.
Scope and Definition
The new standard applies to arrangements where the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time is exchanged for consideration. Excluded
are leases under months and leases related to intangible assets (for example,
software licenses), biological assets, inventory, or assets under construction.
Accounting leases may not be a lease in the legal form.
ASC 842 defines a lease (see ASC 842-10-15-3) as follows: A contract is or
contains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control use of identified
property, plant, or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. A period of time may be described in terms of amount of use
of an identified asset (for example, the number of production units that an item of
equipment will be used to produce).
Key to determining whether a lease exists is the right to obtain substantially
all the economic benefits associated with use of the identified asset and the right
to direct the use of the asset.
Distinguishing Operating and Financing Leases
A lease will be classified as a financing lease if the terms effectively transfer
control and represents a financed purchase of an asset. All other leases where the
lessee obtains control of the use of the asset, but not actual control of the asset,
will be classified as operating leases.
Under the new standard, the distinction between operating and financial leases
remains, and the classification of each does not change much. The most significant change
is that most operating leases will now be on the balance sheet. Firms must now recognize
on the balance sheet a “right-of-use (ROU)” asset that represents the lessee’s right to use
the asset for the lease term and a liability for all financial and operating leases.
Key Changes
1. Operating leases are now on the balance sheet and labeled as operating
assets and liabilities.
2. Lease expense for an operating lease is recognized as a single constant operating
expense.
3. The new standard requires extensive disclosure to enable users of financial statements to understand the amount and timing of leases and leaserelated cash flows.
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The classification of operating versus financial will continue to affect how
leases are reflected in each of the financial statements. The treatment by lessors
does not change significantly.
Accounting for Finance Leases
As mentioned earlier, both financing and operating leases are initially
recorded as assets and liabilities equal to the present value of future cash flows
required to be paid by the lessee. The discount rate should be the rate implicit
in the lease, if known by the lessee, or the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate.
The new standard does not change the accounting for finance leases. The lease
liability, as well as the ROU asset, are both initially recorded on the commencement date at an amount equal to the present value of the remaining future lease
payments.
The lease liability is reduced, and interest expense is calculated, using the
effective interest method. Therefore, interest expense is calculated as the interest
rate on the lease multiplied by the lease liability at the beginning of the period.
The reduction in the lease liability each period is equal to the difference between
the lease payment and the amount of interest expense during the period. When
lease payments are made at year end, the lessee will debit interest expense, debit
the lease liability, and credit cash for the amount of the lease payment. As
expected, interest expense is reported as a non-operating item on the income
statement. The balance sheet will report the current portion of the lease liability
separately from the long-term portion.
The ROU asset will be amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
resulting in an equal amount of amortization expense reported in the operating
section of the income statement. The journal entry will include a debit to
amortization expense and a credit to the ROU asset.
The lessee’s total lease expense is equal to the sum of interest expense and
amortization expense. Total lease expense will be higher earlier in the lease term
because interest expense is higher.
When lease payments are made, the cash flow must be allocated to operating
(for the interest portion) and financing (for the portion related to the principal
payment) in the statement of cash flows.
Accounting for Operating Leases
Before the new standard, operating leases were considered a source of
off-balance sheet financing because no major asset or liability was recorded.
Under the new standard, operating leases will be initially recorded as assets
and liabilities equal to the present value of future cash flows required to be
paid by the lessee as it is with a finance lease. However, unlike a finance lease,
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the liability associated with an operating lease is not treated as debt. This has
important consequences for companies concerned about their incremental
borrowing rate, violating debt covenants, or possible reductions in credit
rating.
The operating lease liability is reduced each period by the difference between
the lease payment and interest expense (calculated using the effective interest
method); therefore, the lease liability will be reduced by the same amount each
period under both the finance and operating lease. However, interest expense is
not reported on an operating lease because the lease liability is not considered
debt. The entry to record the reduction of the lease liability will be offset with a
reduction to the ROU asset for an equal amount. Unlike the finance lease, the
operating lease ROU asset will not be an even allocation of cost across the lease
term.
Lease expense is recorded at an amount equal to the sum of all future lease
payments (undiscounted) divided by the lease term. When the lease involves a
constant stream of cash payments, the lease expense will equal the lease payment,
and the journal entry will require a debit to lease expense and a credit to cash. If
the lease requires uneven cash flows, the difference between the cash payment and
the lease expense will be recorded to an additional prepaid or deferred lease asset
account.
The balance sheet will report the current portion of the lease liability separately from the long-term portion. Lease expense, an operating expense on the
income statement, is constant each year, unlike the total lease expense of a finance
lease. The entire cash payment is classified in the operation section on the
statement of cash flows.
Summary of the Financial Statement Impacts of Finance and Operating Leases:
Balance Sheet Presentation
A finance lease results in the recording of an asset and a liability labeled
as a finance or capital lease, which is considered a type of debt. Over time, the
ROU asset is amortized, typically using a straight-line approach.
An operating lease results in the recording of a ROU asset and a lease
liability labeled as an operating liability (not debt). Over time, the ROU asset is
reduced by an amount equal to the reduction of the liability using the effective
interest method.
Income Statement Presentation
The lease expense on a finance lease includes amortization and interest
expense components, which are shown separately on the income statement.
Amortization is usually calculated using a straight-line approach and is an
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1.
2.

ASU, 2016 – 02
Leases are classified as operating leases
or finance leases
Leases are exempt from being treated
as finance leases if they are:
1. Short-term (⬍1 year, and the lease
does not include an option to
purchase the asset),

IFRS 16
Leases are classified as finance
leases
All leases are treated as finance
leases unless:
1. Short-term (⬍1 year, and the
lease does not include an
option to purchase the asset),
2. Or the value is ⬍$5,000

operating expense. Interest expense is calculated using the effective interest
method.
The lease expense on an operating lease is shown in one line as an
operating expense and is usually determined using a straight-line approach.
However, the ROU asset will decrease by an amount equal to the difference
between the lease expense and interest expense. Interest expense is not recorded
or reported.
Cash Flow Statement Presentation
The principal repayment on a finance lease is a financing cash flow,
whereas the interest component appears in operating cash flows.
The lease payment for an operating lease appears in operating cash flows.
Major Difference in Accounting for Leases – IFRS versus U.S. GAAP:
Like U.S. GAAP, IFRS previously allowed the dual classification of leases as
either operating or financing, where operating leases were considered off-balance
sheet because no asset or liability was recognized. When FASB and the IASB
began their leasing project in 2009, the goal was to have one unified lease
accounting standard, which required nearly all leases to be reported as assets and
liabilities on the balance sheet. Although both groups of standard setters have
achieved the anticipated major change in removing the ability to structure offbalance sheet financing, differences remain between the two sets of accounting
guidance for lessees. The most substantial difference is that IFRS considers all
leases to be similar to the purchase of a financed asset, and therefore classifies all
leases as financing leases, unlike the dual model used in U.S. GAAP. Less
significant differences for lessees relate to the definition and scope of the lease
standards. Under IFRS, the definition of a lease is not specific to plant, property,
and equipment and can even include intangible assets, which are specifically
precluded from lease accounting standards in U.S. GAAP. Last, IFRS allows for
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“small-ticket” leases, defined as those below $5,000 in value, to be exempt from
the new leasing standard, whereas U.S. GAAP does not include this exemption.
The New Leasing Requirements – A Case Study
Teaching Notes
This case is intended for students in an undergraduate- or graduate-level
accounting or finance course. At the undergraduate level, this case is suitable for
an intermediate accounting, financial statement analysis, or advanced finance
course. At the graduate level, it can be used in a financial accounting or finance
course. The case introduces how to report a lease in accordance with the new
FASB standards. Students are required to evaluate the impact of acquiring
equipment by entering into a finance or an operating lease. They must calculate
the impact of the three alternative accounting treatments for leases on the balance
sheet, income statement, and key ratios. In addition, they are asked to record
the necessary journal entries over the lease term under each alternative, discuss
the major differences on the financial statements and ratios, discuss the new
disclosures, and evaluate the differences that would arise if the company reports
under IFRS.
Keywords: Leasing, finance lease, operating lease, ROA, ROE, Debt to
equity.
The information in this case is fictitious; however, it was developed based on
discussions with practicing accounting and finance professionals. Given the new
leasing FASB/IASB standards, effective 2019, it is extremely important that
students are aware of the impacts of leasing on financial statements, disclosures,
and analysis. This case highlights a decision routinely faced in practice: the
impact of treating a lease as an operating or finance lease. The new rules have
changed significantly, especially in the treatment of operating leases that are now
recorded on the balance sheet. Accounting and finance textbooks have not yet
been updated to reflect the latest accounting treatment, making this case very
timely and useful to both accounting and finance professors.
The case is intended to be used as comprehensive instructional material for
the new lease accounting standards. Most accounting textbooks have not yet been
updated to reflect the new standards; yet it is critical for students to learn the new
leasing standards instead of the old standards. We recommend that instructors
tailor the case requirements to the specific needs of the course and preference of
the instructor. For example, an intermediate accounting course may focus more on
the technical aspects of the case, and instructors may choose to assign students to
complete amortization tables and journal entries. If facing time constraints,
instructors may choose to present the completed financials to students (rather than
asking students to prepare them) to show the impact of the different lease
classifications and standards. If used in an undergraduate corporate finance course
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or a Master’s level financial accounting or financial analysis course, the instructor
may prefer to give students the completed amortization tables and journal entries
and require students to prepare the adjusted financial statements and calculate
ratios. This method would emphasize the impact of the lease classification and
standard on the performance and financial position of BLB’s Soup Division over
the more technical accounting entries. We recommend that, regardless of the
specific requirements implemented in class, instructors discuss the major financial
statement differences and reporting benefits of each type of lease under the new
standard.
The learning objectives of the case are that it:
1. Provides students with practice in adjusting financial statements and
ratios for the impact of finance and operating leases
2. Helps students practice making a recommendation to senior management,
which happens often in practice
3. Gives students exposure to critically analyzing the impact to the financial
statement ratios from treating a lease as finance or operating
4. Gives students exposure to U.S. GAAP versus IFRS regulations
SUGGESTED SOLUTIONS TO CASE REQUIREMENTS
Question 1 – Tables of Lease Impact
Table 1 - Finance Lease Schedule: (Excel solution also provided)
公 The ROU Asset is initially recognized on the balance sheet as the present
value of the lease payments at the 6 percent discount rate or $197,981. In Excel,
this is calculated using the following present value function:

公 A lease liability is considered debt and is initially recorded at the present
value of the lease payments discounted at the 6 percent interest rate (equal to the
ROU asset).
公 Annual interest expense is equal to the beginning lease liability
multiplied by the interest (discount) rate. Interest expense per year is calculated as:
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Year
1
2
3
4
5

Cash
Paid
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000

-

Year
1
2
3
4
5

Interest
expense
11,879
9,772
7,538
5,170
2,660

⫽
⫽
⫽
⫽
⫽

Lease
Lease
Reduction
Liability, Reduction
Liability,
in lease
Beg.
in lease
End.
liability Year
Bal.
liability
Bal.
35,121
1
197,981 - 35,121 ⫽ 162,860
37,228
2
162,860 - 37,228 ⫽ 125,631
39,462
3
125,631 - 39,462 ⫽ 86,169
41,830
4
86,169 - 41,830 ⫽ 44,339
44,340
5
44,339 - 44,340 ⫽
0

Lease Liability,
beg. bal.
197,981
162,860
125,631
86,169
44,339

x
x
x
x
x

Interest
rate
0.06
0.06
0.06
0.06
0.06

⫽
⫽
⫽
⫽
⫽

Interest
expense
11,879
9,772
7,538
5,170
2,660

公 The lease liability is amortized using the effective interest method. The
liability is reduced each period by the difference between the cash payment and
interest expense for that year. Payments of lease liabilities and ending lease
liability balances are calculated as follows:
公 The ROU asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Therefore, the amortization expense is equal to $197,981 over 5 years, or $39,596
per year.
公 The total lease expense equals the sum of amortization expense and
interest expense. The amortization expense is reported in the operating section of
the income statement, and interest expense is reported separately in the nonoperating section.
公 Table 1 should be reported as follows:
Table 1. Finance Lease Schedule

Year
1
2
3
4
5

Cash
Paid
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000

Lease
Liability,
beg. bal.
197,981
162,860
125,631
86,169
44,339

Interest
expense
11,879
9,772
7,538
5,170
2,660

Reduction
in lease
liability
35,121
37,228
39,462
41,830
44,340

Lease
Liability,
end. bal.
162,860
125,631
86,169
44,339
(0)

ROU Asset,
beg. bal.
197,981
158,385
118,789
79,192
39,596

Amortization
expense
39,596
39,596
39,596
39,596
39,596

ROU Asset,
end. bal.
158,385
118,789
79,192
39,596
0

Note: ROU, Right-of-Use
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Table 2. Operating Lease Schedule

Year
1
2
3
4
5

Cash
Paid
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000

Lease
Liability
197,981
162,860
125,631
86,169
44,339

Reduction
in Lease
liability
35,121
37,228
39,462
41,830
44,340

Interest
expense
11,879
9,772
7,538
5,170
2,660

Lease
Liability,
end. bal.
162,860
125,631
86,169
44,339
(0)

ROU Asset,
beg. bal.
197,981
162,860
125,631
86,169
44,339

Reduction
in ROU
Asset
35,121
37,228
39,462
41,830
44,340

ROU Asset,
end. bal.
162,860
125,631
86,169
44,339
(0)

Lease
expense
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000

Table 2 - Operating Lease Schedule: (Excel Solution also provided)
公 The ROU Asset and lease liability are initially recognized on the balance
sheet as the present value of the lease payments at the 6 percent discount rate or
$197,981. This is the same amount as the initial lease liability. Note that the
operating lease liability is not considered debt.
公 Annual interest expense is equal to the beginning lease liability
multiplied by the interest (discount) rate but is not separately reported because
the lease liability is not considered debt. Interest expense is used to determine
the decrease in the lease liability each period. The lease liability is reduced
each period by the difference between the cash payment and interest expense
for that year.
公 The ROU asset decreases by the same amount as the lease liability
decreases each period. This differs from the finance lease, which is amortized on
a straight-line basis.
公 The total lease expense is equal to the sum of the total lease payments
(undiscounted) divided by the lease term. The lease expense is reported in the
operating section of the income statement.
Question 2 - Journal Entries
Finance lease
Entry at lease inception:
Finance lease ROU asset
Lease liability

$197,981
$197,981

Journal entry at the end of year 1:
Amortization expense
Interest expense
Lease liability
Finance lease ROU asset
Cash
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$47,000
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Journal entry at the end of year 2:
Amortization expense
Interest expense
Lease liability
Finance lease ROU asset
Cash

$39,596
$9,772
$37,228
$39,596
$47,000

Journal entry at the end of year 3:
Amortization expense
Interest expense
Lease liability
Finance lease ROU asset
Cash

$39,596
$7,538
$39,462
$39,596
$47,000

Journal entry at the end of year 4:
Amortization expense
Interest expense
Lease liability
Finance lease ROU asset
Cash

$39,596
$5,170
$41,830
$39,596
$47,000

Journal entry at the end of year 5:
Amortization expense
Interest expense
Lease liability
Finance lease ROU asset
Cash

$39,596
$2,660
$44,340
$39,596
$47,000

Operating lease
Entry at lease inception:
Finance lease ROU asset
Lease liability

$197,981
$197,981

Journal entry at the end of year 1:
Lease expense
$47,000
Lease liability
$35,121
Operating lease ROU asset
$35,121
Cash
$40,000
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Journal entry at the end of year 2:
Lease expense
$47,000
Lease liability
$37,228
Operating lease ROU asset
$37,228
Cash
$47,000
Journal entry at the end of year 3:
Lease expense
$47,000
Lease liability
$39,462
Operating lease ROU asset
$39,462
Cash
$47,000
Journal entry at the end of year 4:
Lease expense
$47,000
Lease liability
$41,830
Operating lease ROU asset
$41,830
Cash
$47,000
Journal entry at the end of year 5:
Lease expense
$47,000
Lease liability
$44,340
Operating lease ROU asset
$44,340
Cash
$47,000
Questions 3 and 4 - Impact to each year’s balance sheets, income statements,
and key ratios
Question 5 – Benefits of the operating lease classification under the new
standard
公 Operating lease classification results in consistent income and therefore
consistent performance ratios each period due to the constant lease amortization
expense. Because investors typically prefer smooth earnings, this is a major
benefit of the operating lease classification.
公 Return on assets, return on stockholders’ equity, and net profit margin are
higher under the operating lease than under the financing lease in the earlier
periods of the lease term. This is beneficial for the reporting company to the extent
that management places a greater emphasis on shorter-term financial results.
公 Debt to assets and debt to equity are significantly lower under the operating
lease than under the finance lease because operating leases are not considered
debt. This is extremely beneficial for companies concerned about their debt
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Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Lease expense
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Right of use lease asset
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Lease liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current ratio
Return on assets
Return on common stockholders’ equity
Liabilities to equity
Debt to equity
Debt to assets
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
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1
261,240
156,744
104,496
47,000
36,574
83,574
20,922
486
20,436
7,153
13,284

Operating Lease – Previous Standard
2
3
4
5
261,240
261,240
261,240
261,240
156,744
156,744
156,744
156,744
104,496
104,496
104,496
104,496
47,000
47,000
47,000
47,000
36,574
36,574
36,574
36,574
83,574
83,574
83,574
83,574
20,922
20,922
20,922
20,922
486
486
486
486
20,436
20,436
20,436
20,436
7,153
7,153
7,153
7,153
13,284
13,284
13,284
13,284

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
1,388
586
87,970

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
1,388
586
87,970

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
1,388
586
87,970

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
1,388
586
87,970

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
1,388
586
87,970

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
10,042
7,045
2,550
19,637

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
10,042
7,045
2,550
19,637

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
10,042
7,045
2,550
19,637

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
10,042
7,045
2,550
19,637

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
10,042
7,045
2,550
19,637

90
18,112
50,131
68,333
87,970
6.24
0.15
0.19
0.29
0.11
0.08
0.08
0.05

90
18,112
50,131
68,333
87,970
6.24
0.15
0.19
0.29
0.11
0.08
0.08
0.05

90
18,112
50,131
68,333
87,970
6.24
0.15
0.19
0.29
0.11
0.08
0.08
0.05

90
18,112
50,131
68,333
87,970
6.24
0.15
0.19
0.29
0.11
0.08
0.08
0.05

90
18,112
50,131
68,333
87,970
6.24
0.15
0.19
0.29
0.11
0.08
0.08
0.05
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Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Lease expense
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Right of use lease asset
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Lease liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current ratio
Return on assets
Return on common stockholders’ equity
Liabilities to equity
Debt to equity
Debt to assets
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
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1
261,240
156,744
104,496
47,000
36,574
83,574
20,922
486
20,436
7,153
13,284

Operating
2
261,240
156,744
104,496
47,000
36,574
83,574
20,922
486
20,436
7,153
13,284

Lease - New Standard
3
4
5
261,240
261,240
261,240
156,744
156,744
156,744
104,496
104,496
104,496
47,000
47,000
47,000
36,574
36,574
36,574
83,574
83,574
83,574
20,922
20,922
20,922
486
486
486
20,436
20,436
20,436
7,153
7,153
7,153
13,284
13,284
13,284

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
162,860
1,388
586
250,830

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
125,632
1,388
586
213,602

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
86,170
1,388
586
174,140

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
44,340
1,388
586
132,310

48,767
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,694
39,499
16,197
23,302
1,388
586
87,970

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
37,228
47,270
7,045
125,632
2,550
182,497

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
39,462
49,504
7,045
86,170
2,550
145,269

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
41,830
51,872
7,045
44,340
2,550
105,807

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
44,340
54,382
7,045
2,550
63,977

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
10,042
7,045

90
90
90
90
18,112
18,112
18,112
18,112
50,131
50,131
50,131
50,131
68,333
68,333
68,333
68,333
250,830
213,602
174,140
132,310
1.33
1.27
1.21
1.15
0.05
0.06
0.08
0.10
0.19
0.19
0.19
0.19
2.67
2.13
1.55
0.94
0.11
0.11
0.11
0.11
0.03
0.03
0.04
0.06
0.08
0.08
0.08
0.08
0.05
0.05
0.05
0.05

2,550
19,637
90
18,112
50,131
68,333
87,970
6.24
0.15
0.19
0.29
0.11
0.08
0.08
0.05

Journal of the Academy of Business Education

Revenue
Cost of goods sold
Gross profit
Lease expense
Other operating expenses
Total operating expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Income before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net income
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net
Merchandise inventories
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, at cost
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property and equipment
Right of use lease asset
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets
Liabilities:
Short-term debt
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of lease liability
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Lease liability
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock
Paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Current ratio
Return on assets
Return on common stockholders’ equity
Liabilities to equity
Debt to equity
Debt to assets
Operating profit margin
Net profit margin
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1
261,240
156,744
104,496
39,596
36,574
76,170
28,326
12,365
15,961
5,586
10,375

Financing
2
261,240
156,744
104,496
39,596
36,574
76,170
28,326
10,258
18,068
6,324
11,744

Lease - New Standard
3
4
5
261,240
261,240
261,240
156,744
156,744
156,744
104,496
104,496
104,496
39,596
39,596
39,596
36,574
36,574
36,574
76,170
76,170
76,170
28,326
28,326
28,326
8,024
5,656
3,146
20,302
22,670
25,180
7,106
7,935
8,813
13,197
14,736
16,367

53,242
1,522
11,363
1,042
67,169
39,499
16,197
23,302
158,385
1,388
586
250,830

55,610
1,522
11,363
1,042
69,537
39,499
16,197
23,302
118,789
1,388
586
213,602

55,744
1,522
11,363
1,042
69,671
39,499
16,197
23,302
79,193
1,388
586
174,140

53,510
1,522
11,363
1,042
67,437
39,499
16,197
23,302
39,597
1,388
586
132,310

48,766
1,522
11,363
1,042
62,693
39,499
16,197
23,302
1,388
586
87,969

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
37,228
47,270
7,045
125,632
2,550
182,497

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
39,462
49,504
7,045
86,170
2,550
145,269

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
41,830
51,872
7,045
44,340
2,550
105,807

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
44,340
54,382
7,045
2,550
63,977

336
6,328
1,872
1,506
10,042
7,045

90
90
90
90
18,112
18,112
18,112
18,112
50,131
50,131
50,131
50,131
68,333
68,333
68,333
68,333
250,830
213,602
174,140
132,310
1.42
1.40
1.34
1.24
0.04
0.05
0.08
0.11
0.15
0.17
0.19
0.22
2.67
2.13
1.55
0.94
1.95
1.37
0.76
0.11
0.53
0.44
0.30
0.06
0.11
0.11
0.11
0.11
0.04
0.04
0.05
0.06

2,550
19,637
90
18,112
50,131
68,333
87,970
6.24
0.19
0.24
0.29
0.11
0.08
0.11
0.06
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covenants on existing loans or considering entering into additional financing
agreements during the lease term.
Question 6 – Benefits of the finance lease classification under the new standard
公 Due to interest expense being greater in the earlier periods of the lease
term, the finance lease results in greater income and performance ratios in the later
portion of the lease term. This is beneficial for firms more concerned about
longer-term performance or if the lease asset is expected to produce greater
revenue later in the lease term.
公 Cash and therefore the current ratio are slightly higher in the earlier portion
of the lease term. This is because the cash payment on the lease is less than the
lease expense in the earlier portion. Note that this assumes the company pays
income in dividends; if this is not the case, then retained earnings will be higher
in the earlier portion, rather than cash.
公 Operating income and therefore operating profit margin are significantly
higher under the finance lease. This is because interest expense is recorded on a
finance lease but is not separated from the lease expense in an operating lease.
Question 7 – Financial Statement Disclosure
The disclosure requirements for the lessee were revised with the objective of
enabling financial statement users to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of
cash flows arising from leases.
A company must now disclose in the footnotes to the financial statements:
公 The nature of its leases
公 Information about leases that have not yet commenced
公 Related-party lease transactions
公 Accounting policy election regarding short-term leases
公 Finance and operating lease costs
公 Short-term and variable lease costs
公 Sublease income
公 Maturity analysis for lease obligations
公 Weighted-average remaining lease term
公 Weighted-average discount rate
Question 8 – Major Difference is U.S. GAAP versus IFRS
The major difference between U.S. GAAP and IFRS is that U.S. GAAP
allows a dual-model approach whereby leases are classified as either operating
leases or finance leases, and IFRS requires all leases to be recorded as finance
leases. Another difference is the fact that under IFRS, the definition of a lease is
not specific to plant, property, and equipment and can even include intangible
assets, which are specifically precluded from lease accounting standards in U.S.
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GAAP. Last, IFRS allows for “small-ticket” leases, defined as those below $5,000
in value, to be exempt from the new leasing standard, whereas U.S. GAAP does
not include this exemption
Question 9 – Ashley Presents to the CFO and Board of Directors
When addressing the last case requirement, we suggest that instructors divide
students into groups and allow each group member to take on a different
stakeholder’s perspective. This should allow for a lively discussion and debate
about the pros and cons of the operating versus finance lease decision. Students
may be split into groups of four, where each group consists of the following
members: The major shareholder acting on behalf of stockholders; the senior
executive concerned about the company’s credit; Ashley, the young CPA who
researched the lease accounting rules and provides a recommendation; and the
CFO who would like to appeal to both the stockholders and the creditors and
challenges Ashley on her recommendation. Alternatively, a few students may be
assigned to the role of major shareholder, the senior executive concerned about
credit quality, and Ashley, and the remaining students may provide constructive
criticism of Ashley’s recommendation.
An example of the student responses may include the following:
Ashley: Our company has used operating leases in the past, and regardless of
our company’s decision to recognize our new leases as operating or capital leases,
we must be aware that if operating lease criteria is used prospectively, the lease
asset and liability will now be recorded. This will reduce the return on assets, the
current ratio, and the debt-to-assets ratio; it will also increase the liabilities-toequity ratio. These changes may concern creditors and investors unfamiliar with
the new rules.
Major shareholder (acting on behalf of all owners): Many investors focus on
metrics, including earnings per share (EPS), profit margins, return on equity
(ROE), and return on assets (ROA). As current and potential investors evaluate
the success of this new product, we must consider the impact of our funding
decision on these key metrics. We should work to ensure that changes in earnings
and these metrics are not misinterpreted because this could lead to volatility in the
stock price.
Senior executive (acting on behalf of creditors): Our existing lenders established our borrowing agreements in past, prior to the new accounting guidance.
We do not yet know if our lenders are willing to revisit those borrowing
agreements, but there are stipulations regarding our current ratio, debt-to-assets
ratio, and debt-to-equity ratio. If we exceed the contractual amounts related to
these measures, we may be forced to repay our existing long-term debt, and we
cannot afford to do so without a major disruption in operations. We must be sure
that the lenders will not demand repayment of existing debt.
CFO: Ashley, we need to know exactly what our debt contracts stipulate in

Summer 2020

69

order to determine the impact on our existing loans. Are you aware of existing
covenants that are likely to be breached?
Ashley: Thank you all for your valuable input. I reviewed our debt contracts,
and although a finance lease classification does bring us closer to our agreed-upon
measures that trigger repayment, we do not violate any covenants. Joe and I
have arranged to meet with our primary lender later this week to discuss the
changes to lease accounting and request that our existing debt agreements be
modified. As such, I would like to recommend that we continue to use the
operating lease classification to mitigate concerns of the investors and provide
smooth, stable earnings per share over the next years. I feel this will accurately
reflect the expected stable income effects of our new product in the Soup
division.
CFO: Thank you, Ashley. I think that you have done a soup-er job today.
Note to Instructors:
Ashley’s recommendation requires judgment because debt covenant information and target or expected performance measures are not given in this
case. Ashley’s response here is not intended to be the only acceptable answer.
The case is intentionally left open to reasoning to promote students’ critical
thinking skills.
Suggested Reading List
Grant, T. (2016). “No More Hiding Lease Liability” Strategic Finance, Available at:
https://sfmagazine.com/post-entry/july-2016-no-more-hiding-lease-liability/.
Fike, A., and Torr, T., “Operationalizing the New Lease Standard”, Deloitte,
Available at: https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/pages/risk/articles/new-lease-accountingstandard.html.
Strauss, N., Siegel, M., LaMonte, M., Thuener, A., Taub, D., and Prabhakar
Kalavacherla, P. “Implementing the New Lease Accounting Standards”, The CPA
Journal, Available at: https://www.cpajournal.com/2018/08/27/implementing-thenew-lease-accounting-standards/.
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Facilitators of Corruption: A Case Study
Involving Credit Suisse in Mozambique
Rachel Barclay and Tyler Custis
University of South Dakota

This paper describes the implementation of a “Fraud Case Study” in
three business law classes. The authors developed an instructional case
based on the fraud that went on between the company Credit Suisse and
the country of Mozambique. The case exposes students to business law
concepts including: (1) the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act; (2) 18 U.S.
Code §371; (3) international fraud; (4) extradition; and (5) ethical
reasoning. This case details the scandal and enables students to evaluate
the actions of those involved. Student opinion surveys were also conducted regarding the learning outcomes involved, and the results show an
increase in understanding and strong student engagement.
Keywords: Credit Suisse, Mozambique, Fraud, 18 U.S. Code §371,
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, Case Study
Disciplines of Interest: Business Law, International Law and Ethics
INTRODUCTION
The United States has charged government officials in Mozambique and
Credit Suisse employees with conspiracy to commit wire fraud, conspiracy to
commit securities fraud, conspiracy to violate the Anti-Bribery and Internal
Controls Provisions of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA), and conspiracy
to commit money laundering [Indictment, 2018]. The Credit Suisse bankers are
accused of using loans to fund maritime activities as fronts to bribe government
officials and use kickback payments for themselves. Despite the fact that these
crimes mainly took place outside the United States, the U.S. government has
become involved because some of the bribes and kickbacks passed through U.S.
bank accounts located in New York City.
AN OVERVIEW OF FRAUD
Investopedia refers to corporate fraud as “activities undertaken by an individual or company that are done in a dishonest or illegal manner and are designed
Rachel Barclay, University of South Dakota.
Tyler Custis, University of South Dakota. E-mail: tyler.custis@usd.edu.
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to give an advantage to the perpetrating individual or company” [Chen, 2019].
They can affect the business, other employees, and/or other parties. To avoid
fraud and the penalties that can go with it, many companies have a system of
checks and balances in place, but that does not mean people will not work to
overcome the checks and balances.
One of the most infamous cases of fraud in the early 2000s involves Enron,
an energy company whose executives were pocketing money while inflating key
performance indictors to shareholders [“Enron Fast Facts”, 2019]. Because of that
case, many accounting guidelines were put in place. Despite the guidelines, fraud
is still prevalent. Cases like Volkswagen’s “diesel dupe”— cars that could cheat
emission testing—affect international companies and cost them a lot of money:
$14.7 billion in Volkswagen’s case [“Volkswagen Emissions Scandal - Largest
Corporate Fraud in History”, n.d.]. Very often, cases of fraud come forward
showing the poor decisions that were made, with unethical leadership at the
forefront of the issue.
AN OVERVIEW OF CREDIT SUISSE GROUP AG
Credit Suisse Group AG (Credit Suisse) is a financial and banking company
that specializes in managing wealth and investing. According to the company
website, it is dedicated to their clients in helping them “achieve their growth
ambitions, build and expand their businesses, and meet their objectives” [“Brand”,
n.d.]. Highly international, Credit Suisse has operations in 50 countries across the
world. Credit Suisse has been in existence for more than 160 years and is
considered a top bank in the world [“Our Company”, n.d.]. However, despite
Credit Suisse being a top-tier bank and striving to help their clients grow
financially, it was recently caught up in a scandal with a company called
Privinvest. According to the indictment, Privinvest is an international holding
company that consists of many subsidiaries, one being a shipbuilding company
that was going to be used by Credit Suisse to help with maritime projects in
Mozambique, a sub-Saharan African country.
AN OVERVIEW OF MOZAMBIQUE
Mozambique is located on the eastern coast of Southern Africa. A new
country, it gained independence in 1975. At the time of independence, the country
was struggling economically; and, in spite of economic reforms in the 1990s, most
of the country is still below the poverty line [“Africa:: Mozambique”, 2018]. The
poor economy is mainly due to large debt burdens and weak economic growth
[“Mozambique”, 2019]. In attempts to increase economic activity, Credit Suisse
loaned the government of Mozambique $2 billion to be used as funding for
maritime projects.
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PAST FRAUD IN MOZAMBIQUE AND CREDIT SUISSE
Fraud is something that is well known in developing nations, and Mozambique is no exception to this. In the early 2000s, the president’s son was involved
in a major embezzling scandal [“Mozambique: NYIMPINE Associates Accused
of $20 Million Fraud”, 2003]. Additionally, in the 2010s, the government borrowed billions of dollars without parliamentary approval [“Africa: Mozambique”,
2018]. These cases highlight the institutional shortcomings in the country and the
problems with corruption in the government.
As for Credit Suisse, most cases of fraud are claimed to be caused by rogue
employees and not by the company itself. It is unsurprising that the bank has
records of fraud that go back to the 1970s [Mattera, 2017]. According to Mattera,
in just the past few years, they have been involved in violating securities laws,
misrepresenting key performance metrics, and evading taxes. In 2018, a client
advisor was sentenced to 5 years’ imprisonment for fraudulent schemes against
his clients [Nebehay, 2018]. Meanwhile, before this incident, Privinvest did not
have any known high-profile cases of fraud.
CREDIT SUISSE FRAUD IN MOZAMBIQUE
The loans mentioned above were given to the Mozambican government to be
used to fund coastal surveillance and shipyards. The money for these maritime
plans was raised using two investment banks, and the loans were sold to investors
all over the world—including some in the United States. According to the
indictment, Credit Suisse employees Andrew Pearse, Surjan Singh, and Detelina
Subeva decided to use the maritime projects as fronts soon after they were created,
instead of actually using the investments as planned. The following describes
what these Credit Suisse employees did:
“Over the course of the transactions, the co-conspirators, among other things,
conspired to defraud investors and potential investors . . . through numerous
material misrepresentations and omissions relating to, among other things: the use
of loan proceeds, bribe and kickback payments to Mozambican government
officials and bankers, the amount and maturity dates of debt owed by Mozambique, and Mozambique’s ability and intention to pay back the investors” [Indictment, 2018].
Their purpose in doing this was to make money for themselves while
offering money to Mozambican government officials. Along with the defendants mentioned earlier, Manuel Chang, the Mozambican Minister of Finance,
and Jean Boustani, the lead salesperson for Privinvest, are also being charged
in this case [Indictment, 2018]. In the end, an estimated $200 million was
diverted from the loans to serve the interests of the defendants [Indictment,
2018].
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VIOLATIONS
The defendants are being charged with four counts:
•
•
•
•

Count one: conspiracy to commit wire fraud (18 U.S. Code §371)
Count two: conspiracy to commit securities fraud
Count three: conspiracy to violate the FCPA Anti-Bribery and Internal
Controls Provisions
Count four: conspiracy to commit money laundering [Indictment, 2018]

Cornell Law School runs the Legal Information Institute, a database that publishes
material relating to law. It defines 18 U.S. Code §371 as occurring as follows:
“[When] two or more persons conspire either to commit any offense against
the United States, or to defraud the United States, or any agency thereof in any
manner or for any purpose, and one or more of such persons do any act to effect
the object of the conspiracy” [“18 U.S. Code §371 - Conspiracy to commit offense
or to defraud United States”, 2019].
The reason for these charges in relation to 18 U.S. Code §371 is that the defendants
knowingly defrauded investors with the fake maritime projects. They used the pretense
that the money would be put toward economic development in Mozambique, knowing
they were going to use some of the money for their own personal gain.
According to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the FCPA
“generally prohibits the payment of bribes to foreign officials to assist in obtaining
or retaining business. The FCPA can apply to prohibited conduct anywhere in the
world and extends to publicly traded companies and their officers, directors,
employees, stockholders, and agents” [U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, 2017]. Those involved in this scandal knowingly participated in bribery that
violates the FCPA. They also hid the money by means of money laundering—the
act of concealing the origins of illegally obtained money [“What is Money
Laundering?” n.d.]— by transferring the money to and from foreign banks (both
inside and outside the United States).
Although the United States has not taken action against Credit Suisse, the
bankers were able to profit by sidestepping internal controls. The defendants were
able to get away with not reporting important information to their compliance
staff. Though some suspicion was raised by this, Credit Suisse’s compliance
department failed to act on it [Cheslow, 2019]. However, even though the United
States has not taken action, a Swiss lobby group has filed a criminal complaint
against the company [Gonçalves, 2019].
EXTRADITION
The interesting element about this case is the international aspect of it. A
Swiss bank was doing business in Mozambique; the defendants are from all over
the world (Mozambique [Chang], Lebanon [Boustani], New Zealand [Pearse],
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United Kingdom [Singh], and Bulgaria [Subeva]); and the case has now been
extradited to the United States. There are two main reasons the accused are being
charged by the United States: (1) some of the investors of the maritime projects
are in the United States, and (2) some of the bribes and kickbacks passed through
U.S. banks [Indictment, 2018]. According to Cornell Law School’s Legal Information Institute, with 18 U.S. Code §3,184 any justice or judge of the United
States may charge any person in his or her jurisdiction with having committed any
crime and may issue a warrant for the apprehension of the person charged [“18
U.S. Code §3,184 - Fugitives from Foreign Country to United States”, 2019]. This
code makes it possible for them to be charged by the United States.
EPILOGUE
At this time, the case is still pending. Although the United States has not
charged Credit Suisse in this case, the Mozambique government has; however,
according to an article at Bloomberg.com, Credit Suisse claims that it was
deceived by its own staff [Browning, 2019]. In May 2019, one defendant, Subeva,
came to the United States and “pleaded guilty to one count of money laundering
conspiracy” [Pierson, 2019]. Meanwhile, the other defendants in the case say that
they will contest the extradition request made by the United States [Binham &
Thompson, 2019].
Case Questions to be Answered
1. Who are the stakeholders affected by this Credit Suisse financial fraud?
2. How will this scandal affect the trust that investors have in Credit Suisse?
How will it affect the trust that people have in Mozambique as a country?
3. Define the ethical theories: (1) Utilitarianism; (2) Justice; and (3) Rights.
How do they relate to this case?
4. Do you think the United States should take action against Credit Suisse as
a company? Why or why not?
5. What do you believe should be the outcome of the case?
TEACHING STRATEGIES AND IMLEMENTATION GUIDANCE
Learning Objectives:
After participating in this case study, students should have an understanding
of the following topics:
•
•
•
•

International Criminal Fraud (Question 4, 5)
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (Question 4, 5)
Extradition (Question 4)
Ethical Reasoning (Question 1, 3)
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•
•

Developing Critical Thinking Skills (Question 1, 2, 5)
White-Collar Crime (Question 4, 5)

Each of these topics was introduced in class, and the case provided real life
exposure to the learning objective concepts. After in-class lectures and case
exposure, assessment metrics were developed for subsequent examinations. However, an instructor may use the case to develop an assessment metric to gauge
learning-objective competency.
Intended Audience
This case was developed by business law faculty and designed for an
undergraduate business law class. It was originally presented to three sections of
junior-level business students who were taking their required business law course.
For most of the students in the course, this was their first experience studying law.
The case was given to predominately traditional college-age students at a
medium-size midwestern state university. This case was given at the end of the
semester, so students had an opportunity to understand many legal concepts. The
students who participated in this case study had studied other topics, including
criminal law, criminal procedure, and jurisdictional issues earlier in the semester.
Though the case is designed for an undergraduate class, it could be modified to fit
a graduate-level business law course. Moreover, it may be possible to use this case
in other business disciplines. For instructors who are interested in using this case,
but who have limited knowledge on corruption, d’Agostino, Dunneb, and Pieroni’s article, “Corruption and Growth in Africa,” [2016] would be helpful to
understand some background.
Implementation Suggestions
Students were assigned this case as an individual assignment. Though this
case could be used for a group project, the individual assignment allowed each
student to work on all parts of the case. Students were given 2 weeks to complete
the case write-up and turn it in to the instructor. The case was presented to
students in class, and the documents were sent electronically. Student questions
about the case were addressed informally in class and through email. Following
the completion of the assignment, the instructor facilitated a class discussion of
the case. The class discussion allowed students to present their ideas about the
case as well as debate their classmates on recommended outcomes. Students
responded to this case as they did to other cases the authors have used in prior
classes. The rollout and completion of the assignment went smoothly for the
authors, and there appeared to be no major implementation issues.
Because this is a real-life situation, an instructor may want to allow students
to search for news articles on how the situation was resolved in the courts. This
additional exercise could engage students and bring additional discussions to the
class.
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Table 1. Student Evaluations
5 ⫽ Strongly Agree; 4 ⫽ Agree; 3 ⫽ Neutral; 2 ⫽ Disagree 1 ⫽ Strongly
Disagree

Item
1. Completing the Credit Suisse case study helped
me understand red flags (incentives,
opportunities, and attitudes) related to
international fraud.
2. Completing the Credit Suisse case study helped
me understand the effect of international fraud on
the stakeholders involved.
3. Completing the Credit Suisse case study helped
me understand the role US authorities can play in
prosecuting international fraud.
4. Completing the Credit Suisse case study helped
me understand the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act
(FCPA).
5. I would recommend that this case be part of The
Legal Environment of Business classes in future
semesters.
6. The level of difficulty in this case project was
appropriate for a 300 level Business Law course.
7. Analyzing this case as an individual project was
beneficial.
8. Overall, this case project was a useful learning
tool.

Mean
4.048

Standard
Deviation
0.62

4.190

0.74

4.000

0.84

4.143

0.75

4.333

0.75

4.238

0.73

4.190

0.84

4.381

0.77

*74 Student Responses.

Evaluations
Student comments
“Highly detailed case discussing the violation of many laws and acts that were
an essential part of class discussion”
“This was an interesting case and it was a beneficial case example.”
“This is a very interesting case”
Grades and Scoring
Three sections of students were assigned the case. Two sections had 25
students, and the third had 24 students. Students were interested and motivated to
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Table 2. Rubric Used to Assess Each Student’s Case Write-up
Criteria
Identification of
Main
Issues/Problems

5 points
Identifies and demonstrates a
sophisticated understanding of the
main issues/problems in the case
study.
Analysis and
Presents an insightful and thorough
Evaluation of
analysis of all identified
Issues/Problems
issues/problems.
Recommendations on Supports diagnosis and opinions with
Effective
strong arguments and well
Solutions/Strategies
documented evidence; presents a
balanced and critical view;
interpretation is both reasonable and
objective.
Connects Course
Makes appropriate and powerful
Readings and/or
connections between identified
Additional
issues/ problems and the strategic
Research
concepts studied in the course
readings and lectures; supplements
case study with relevant and
thoughtful research and documents
all sources of information.
Writing Mechanics
and Formatting
Guidelines

3 points
Identifies and demonstrates an
accomplished understanding of
most of the issues/problems.
Presents a thorough analysis of
most of the issues identified.

Supports diagnosis and opinions
with limited reasoning and
evidence; presents a somewhat
one-sided argument;
demonstrates little engagement
with ideas presented.
Makes appropriate but somewhat
vague connections between
identified issues/problems and
concepts studied in readings
and lectures; demonstrates
limited command of the
analytical tools studied;
supplements case study with
limited research.
Demonstrates clarity, conciseness and
Occasional grammar or spelling
correctness; formatting is appropriate;
errors, but still a clear
and writing is free of grammar and
presentation of ideas; lacks
spelling errors.
organization

1 point
Identifies and demonstrates
acceptable understanding of
some of the issues/problems in
the case study.
Presents a superficial or incomplete
analysis of some of the
identified issues.
Little or no action suggested and/
or inappropriate solutions
proposed to the issues in the
case study.

Makes inappropriate or little
connection between issues
identified and the concepts
studied in the readings;
supplements case study, if at
all, with incomplete research
and documentation.

Writing is unfocused, rambling, or
contains serious errors; poorly
organized and does not follow
specified guidelines.

关Source: Wnew.Cteonline.Org, 2019兴.

complete the case, and as a result, the scores were fairly high. The low score on
the case was 60 percent, the high score was 100 percent, and the mean score was
93 percent. This grade distribution is comparable to other engaging cases the
authors have used in prior semesters.
The case answers were assessed using the rubric shown below. For each
student write-up, the rubric was filled out by the instructor. In some cases, student
responses did not fit perfectly in a grading category. For those situations, an
instructor may wish to deviate from the recommended points to better assess a
student response.
Rubric
This modified version of the rubric developed by the California CTE online
resources database was used to assess each student’s case write-up.
CONCLUSION
The students who participated in this case enjoyed this innovative learning
tool, and the faculty who assigned the case plan to continue to use this case in the
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future. The case brings to life a salacious scandal that many students found hard
to believe was true. The real-life analysis brought students away from their
textbooks and gave them the opportunity to apply their knowledge to a current
situation.
The students identified several consequences of the bankers’ actions and their
subsequent effects on investors and on the people of Mozambique. Additionally,
students were able to grapple with whether the United States should police this
sort of activity around the world. Finally, students were able to identify the ethical
deficiencies that led to these criminal acts. By gaining a firsthand view of legal
and ethical lapses, this case was able to extend the student experience from the
classroom to a real-life application of their studies.
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APPENDIX

Appendix A: Kickbacks and Bribes to Pearse
Date
April 23, 2013
May 26, 2013
June 26, 2013
July 25, 2013
September 1, 2013
September 25, 2013
September 30, 2013
October 23, 2013
October 31, 2013
December 3, 2013
December 23, 2013
January 27, 2014
February 27, 2014
June 3, 2014

Amount
$ 2,500,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 15,600,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 7,800,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 1,000,000
$ 1,000,000
$
250,000
$ 10,050,000

Wire Instruction
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“dividends payment”
“partial payment on consultancy agreement”
“dividend pym”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“partial pymt on consultancy agreement”
“dividends payment”

关Source: Indictment, 2019兴.

Appendix B: Kickbacks and Bribes to Singh
Date
October 23, 2013
November 27, 2013
December 23, 2013
January 27, 2014
January 28, 2014
February 27, 2014

Amount
$ 800,000
$ 800,000
$ 800,000
$ 800,000
$ 799,960
$ 500,000

“pymt
“pymt
“pymt
“pymt
“pymt
“pymt

Wire Instruction
on consultancy agreement”
on consultancy agreement”
on consultancy agreement”
on consultancy agreement”
on consultancy agreement”
on consultancy agreement”

关Source: Indictment, 2019兴.
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Pendleton Software: A Case for Analyzing
Organizational Congruence
Sandra E. Spataro and Jaclyn Perrmann-Graham
Haile/US Bank College of Business, Northern Kentucky University

Nadler and Tushman’s [1980; Nadler, Tushman, and Nadler, 1997] Organizational Congruence Model, rooted in aligning internal organizational
components to each other and to strategy, is a staple in many organizational
behavior classes. However, students often have trouble applying the model
after reading about it. The exercise offered here, using a short case for
students to practice with the model, is a tool to help students internalize the
model quickly and become comfortable applying it. Guidelines for in-class
and out-of-class use are provided, including online applications.
Keywords: Organizational Congruence, Strategic Management,
Culture, Organizational Fit
Disciplines of Interest: Organizational Behavior, Strategy, Strategic
Management
INTRODUCTION
Understanding the inner workings of an organization and the ways different aspects
relate to strategy implementation is critical. One framework for understanding inner
organizational design for strategy implementation is Nadler and Tushman’s [1980; Nadler,
Tushman and Nadler, 1997]. Organizational Congruence Model The model is taught in
many organizational behavior classes as a tool for diagnosing organizational operations
and assessing organizational design for strategy implementation. Though the model is
conceptually simple, applying it to a detailed case with many different facts and descriptors
can be daunting. This paper presents a short case developed to help students use the
Congruence Model and receive quick feedback. Methods for using/teaching the case in
class, outside of class, and/or online as a means to help students internalize and translate
the Congruence Model are presented.

Sandra E. Spataro, Department of Management, Haile/US Bank College of Business, Northern Kentucky
University, Highland Heights, KY USA 41099. Phone: 859-572-7908. E-mail: spataros1@nku.edu.
Jaclyn Perrmann-Graham, Department of Management, Northern Kentucky University.
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LITERATURE REVIEW
Research on learning shows that frameworks and models aid students in
learning new ideas. When students select, organize, and integrate information
around an existing structure or framework, learning is more meaningful [National
Research Council, 1999]. Nonlinear frameworks give students the opportunity to
transfer linear text into more meaningful representations; students can organize
and connect concepts more freely and meaningfully when they have a framework
to organize their thoughts [Hyerle, 1996; Dean, Hubbell, Pitler, and Stone, 2012].
Nadler and Tushman’s [1980; Nadler, Tushman, and Nadler, 1997] Organizational Congruence Model is a diagnostic tool for identifying root causes in
organizational performance problems (or pinpointing opportunities) and detecting
appropriate fixes to those causes. The model is predicated on assessing alignment
among four internal components of any organization, each aligned with one
another: tasks, informal organization, form structure, and people—and all aligned
with strategy. Points of misalignment (i.e. formal structure rewarding individual
productivity and an information culture valuing teamwork) suggest the root
causes of negative organizational outcomes. The congruence model provides
graphic depiction of the internal organizational components and their relationships, easing students’ process of organizing and relating to information about the
organization [Mercer Delta Consulting, 2004]. Students can visualize the whole
model on a single page, including notes about the organization.
OVERVIEW OF THE PENDLETON SOFTWARE CASE
The Pendleton Software case (Appendix A), is a fictional case based on the
first author’s experiences when working in Silicon Valley. The case reviews the
inner workings of a fictional software company that initially experienced meteoric
growth and success but is now experiencing some undesirable outcomes (e.g. low
customer satisfaction; bad reputation for servicing customers; an SEC review).
The case reviews the company’s structure, culture, people, and operations. At the
time the case is set, the company is experiencing a shift in strategy from
transaction-based, one-off sales to IT personnel to relationship-based partnerships
with C-suite level executives. This shift presents an opportunity to look inside the
organization and check alignment or congruence among internal components and
the new strategy.
USING PENDLETON SOFTWARE IN THE CLASSROOM
Learning Outcomes
After analyzing the case, students will be able to:
1. Describe an organization according to the components of the Congruence
Model
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2. Analyze congruence among the internal components and the strategy
3. Diagnose root causes of undesirable outcomes (or opportunities for positive outcomes)
4. Offer recommendations to re-align the system for effective strategy
implementation.
Teaching Methods
This case can be used in a number of different ways and formats. It may be
beneficial for instructors to teach the concepts of the congruence model first, with
or without an example case (sample PowerPoint slides in Appendix B). After
students gain an understanding of the congruence model, they can work on the
Pendleton Software case in class, with debrief following, or outside class to be
debriefed in the next class session. Because the concept of the congruence model
is new to most students, they may benefit from working in teams. After introducing the model, students begin working on the case (30 – 45 minutes), capturing
notes on a blank template of the congruence model which includes definitions of
each of the components as indicated in Table 1 (Appendix C). The instructor can
then debrief the solution to provide clarity (see Appendix D for discussion notes).
As the instructor debriefs the solution, students should be walked through a
process of describing each component of Pendleton (see solution in Appendix D)
and then guided to analyze congruence among all components and with strategy.
In an online format, students can work independently or in groups to analyze
Pendleton after initial exposure to the congruence model. In both online and
face-to-face formats, a 1- to 2-page analysis of the case, focused on their analyses
and recommendations (not description of the parts of the model) is an appropriate
assignment for students to complete. A sample description of the assignment is
provided in Appendix E.
The case depicts an organization highly congruent within itself and with the
original strategy of selling database software transaction-by-transaction to IT
leaders. As the company moved to a more relationship-based strategy, partnering
with C-suite executives as clients, the internal systems are still congruent with
each other but highly incongruent with this new approach. Recommendations to
bring the system into congruence with the new strategy are immediately apparent
from the analyses.
Instructors should caution students against gut reactions, such as “fire the
CEO and/or all crooked sales staff members.” Recommendations should be
realistic and move the system toward congruence. Students are encouraged to be
concrete and specific in their recommendations; for example, their recommendation could include having sales representatives remain in the same sales territory
for at least a year (no more switching every quarter).
One aspect to note: this is not a model of organizational performance, but
rather of strategy implementation. The business strategy that guides an organization is taken as given in this model. A fully congruent or aligned system will drive
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that strategy forward; it will not “cure” a bad strategy. The model is designed to
help organizations maximize effectiveness according to their current strategy and
objectives [O’Reilly and Tushman, 2016].
CONCLUSION
The Pendleton Software case offers students an opportunity to practice and
apply the Organizational Congruence Model [Nadler and Tushman, 1980; Nadler,
Tushman, and Nadler, 1997]. The short case format allows students to dive deeply
into the case but still receive relatively quick feedback. This exercise teaches the
model on its own, or it can be offered as preamble to analyzing a more in-depth
case study.
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APPENDIX A – THE CASE
Pendleton Software
“This place is a nut house. Half of your customers are laughing at you, and
the other half want to see you in prison. Does anyone here know how to run a
business?”
Thus spoke Jim Akin, the newly hired president of operations to his new boss,
the CEO of Pendleton Software. Pendleton was the market leader in database
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software since its founding in the early 2000s, experiencing meteoric growth and
success through most of the 2010s. Their flagship database software, designed to
help companies manage data in the new “information age,” was not just the
market leader—it was the gold standard for relational, portable database technology.
Robert Blakely, the CEO and founder of Pendleton who wrote the code for the
original database product when he was a young engineer at another computer
company, tightly ruled the company’s internal operations as well as its market
image. Blakely liked to characterize the company as the Genghis Khan of the
software industry, not satisfied with merely winning deals but striving to absolutely annihilate the competition. Internally, he closely monitored sales transactions and internal practices. Even at the time of Akin’s hiring, Blakely still
interviewed every new hire to the company of about 8,000 people, recruiting for
his corporate offices and product development staff exclusively from Stanford,
UC Berkeley, Harvard, and MIT. Youthful exuberance characterized HQ operations; anyone with gray hair was treated as suspect. Blakely’s trademark management tactic was to pit different divisions of the company against one another
to elicit superior performance through competition. Product development groups
raced one another toward release deadlines, and field sales divisions operated
independently (there were separate sales VPs for Western US, Eastern US,
Federal Sales, and International) and in competition with one another. Blakely’s
brash image and arrogant marketing posture was well-supported by the company’s outstanding performance: Pendleton had more than doubled its revenues
every year since its inception. The company’s domination of the database software market was unimpeachable.
Pendleton’s success in its early years was attributable to more than just
superior technology. The sales force was known—to its customers and to the
market more broadly—for its aggressive tactics and a willingness to do “whatever
it takes” to close a deal. Sales reps were trained in the features and functions of
the software and most could stand toe-to-toe with any IT manager to describe the
products’ superiority. Nonetheless, deep discounts, promises for future technology, and overstatements of the current product’s capabilities were all common
practices. These aggressive sales tactics were especially prevalent at the end of
each of Pendleton’s fiscal quarters and particularly at the end of the fiscal year,
when sales reps were trying to make their quotas. Sales reps were even known to
strike secret “side deals” with customers that described different payment and
licensing terms than what was written in the formal sales contract. To ensure that
reps did their best to close deals within the current fiscal year, sales management
would re-assign territories each year, so that credit for any deal left unfinished
would go to the new rep who just inherited the territory. For their success in
closing deals and meeting their outrageously high quotas, sales reps were rewarded handsomely with very high commissions, bonuses, and outlandishly
extravagant sales “conferences” in Hawaii, Las Vegas, and Bermuda. Those who
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failed to meet quota were dismissed, and as company legend described it, usually
learned of their termination only when they tried to log on to the company email
system. The error message “name no longer in the database” revealed their fate to
them.
Pendleton’s aggressive sales and financial management tactics caught up with
it around 2015. An SEC investigation of the company’s financial reporting
methods and revenue recognition practices culminated in a class-action lawsuit
filed on behalf of the shareholders. The lawsuit was settled, and the company was
forced to re-state revenues from prior years, which both embarrassed the company
greatly and revealed its struggles to maintain the aggressive growth projections
that both insiders and analysts had come to expect.
Still, technological developments continued through the tumultuous financial
crises and into the 2010s. The database software on which the company was
founded was consistently enhanced and updated, with new versions released every
few years. Further, Pendleton developed and began to market its own application
software, with products for Financial Reporting, Accounts Receivable, Accounts
Payable, Human Resource Management, and Sales Tracking. The company also
began offering comprehensive consulting services for implementation of the
applications software and business process re-engineering. This expansion into
new products and services was essential, because Blakely knew that in the highly
competitive software market, he could not bank the company’s future on database
software alone. Still, the database products remained closest to his heart and were
always the first products he bragged about to the press.
As the company embarked on the second half of the 2010s, it faced increasing
challenges. Clients were demanding enterprise-wide, integrated information technology systems, rather than just the database engines that drove such systems. As
a result, technology purchasing decisions were being handled by customers’ CFOs
and COOs, rather than by a middle manager who handled information technology.
Further, customers were increasingly globalizing their own businesses, requiring
information links not only across systems but across geographic boundaries as
well. Increasingly, clients were looking for technology providers that they could
call business partners rather than just suppliers.
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APPENDIX B – POWERPOINT PRESENTATION
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APPENDIX C – TEMPLATE OF THE CONGRUENCE MODEL
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Table 1. Organizational Components for Case Analyses (from Nadler and
Tushman, 1980)

Component
Environment

Resources

History

Strategy

Task

Definition
All factors, including institutions, groups,
individuals, events, and so on, that are
outside the organization being analyzed, but
that have a potential impact on that
organization.
Various assets to which the organization has
access, including human resources,
technology, capital, information, and so on,
as well as less tangible resources.
The patterns of past behavior, activity, and
effectiveness of the organization that may
affect current organizational functioning.

Stream of decisions about how organizational
resources will be configured to meet the
demands, constraints, and opportunities
within the context of the organization’s
history.
The basic and inherent work to be done by the
organization and its parts.

Individual

The characteristics of individuals in the
organization.

Formal Organization

The various structures, processes, and methods
that are formally created to get individuals
to perform tasks.
The emerging arrangements, including
structures, processes, and relationships. This
is culture.

Informal Organization

Summer 2020

Critical Features for Analysis
What demands does the environment make on the
organization?
How does the environment constrain organizational
action?
What is the relative quality of the different resources
to which the organization has access?
To what extent are resources fixed rather than flexible
in their configuration?
What have been the major stages or phases of the
organization’s development?
What is the current impact of such historical factors as
strategic decisions, acts of key leaders, crises, core
values, and norms?
How is the core mission defined?
On what basis does the organization compete?
What objectives for output have been set?

Types of skill and knowledge demands the work poses.
Degree of uncertainty associated with the work.
Constraints on performance demands inherent in the
work.
Knowledge and skills individuals have.
Individual needs and preferences.
Perceptions and expectancies.
Background factors.
Organization design.
Job design and work environment.
Human resource management systems.
Leader behavior.
Intragroup and intergroup relations.
Informal working arrangements.
Communication and influence patterns.
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In-Class Discussion Notes
Instructor: First, let’s get clear about what the outcomes are that are leading
us to think there are problems at Pendleton. Are there performance problems?
What are they (not what is causing them)?
Poor image
Difficulty meeting revenue targets
Under suspicion
Cheating to make targets
SEC lawsuit
Slowing growth
Environment change – customers’ needs are different
Instructor: With congruence, we always start with strategy. Here, we’re not
so much asking whether it is a good or a bad strategy. We just want to describe
it. Pendleton is going through a change in their strategy. So, let’s separate it out:
old and new.
Old strategy
Superior product
Aggressive sales
Component, technical gurus sales
New Strategy
Customer Relationships
Enterprise-wide solutions
Instructor: Let’s look next at the internal components of the organization:
Task
Working independently (competitively)
Sell, sell, sell
Competing product development
People
Salespeople: aggressive, technically competent, cutthroat, $ motivated, ethically challenged
Corporate: young, elite educations, little experience (suspicious of gray hair)
Culture
Ruthless, do whatever it takes
Side deals— ethics breaches
Suspicious of gray hair—inexperience okay
Demands high performance
No loyalty, trust
Formal organization (procedures, policies)
Outrageously high quotas
Rewarded handsomely (vacations, bonuses, high commissions)
Firings in an impersonal way
Lack of controls
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Little personnel development
Instructor: Now, all we’ve done so far is describe the case. Let’s start our
analyses, beginning with the old strategy.
Instructor: How does each piece fit with the old strategy?
[Go through each piece—all are highly congruent to each other and to the old
strategy]
Instructor: We have a really nice fit. Then, customer needs change, so
strategy changes. So how well do these pieces fit the new strategy? This is how we
will find the root cause of the negative outcomes Pendleton is currently experiencing. How do the internal pieces fit to the new strategy?
None of the internal components supports the new strategy of building
partnerships, long-term relationships, selling to C-suite execs.
Instructor: OK. We’re finally there; we know our root cause. None of the
internal components are congruent with the new strategy, even though they are
highly congruent with each other. What do some solutions look like?
(Make sure recommendations are tied to resolving points of incongruence—
“Fire the CEO” doesn’t bring the system into congruence)
APPENDIX E – OUT OF CLASS ASSIGNMENT
Congruence Analysis Paper
Conduct a congruence analysis of Pendleton Software. Then submit a 2-page
maximum (double-spaced, Times New Roman, 12-point font) write-up reporting
on your analysis. Be careful to include analyses (what is congruent or incongruent
with what else) and not description (what goes under formal systems, people,
etc.). Your paper should identify the symptoms that there is a problem at
Pendleton, the root causes of those symptoms, and recommendations to resolve
the issue. ALL of these should be rooted in, and supported by, your congruence
analysis.
Before you move to the Pendleton Software case, here’s an important note
about congruence: A common error in applying this model comes from conflating
“congruent” with “smart” or “effective” or “good management”. Be careful to
keep these concepts separate. Congruence is solely about alignment. “Do the two
components I am comparing reinforce or detract from one another?” is the
question that should be your ongoing focus in a congruence analysis. This means
bad management tactics can be congruent. The classic case of this is Enron
(remember them?). It was a highly congruent system driving a really bad strategy.
Congruence accelerated the company’s demise in that case. Congruent systems
implement strategy. Congruence doesn’t correct a bad strategy. And congruence
doesn’t lead to company performance (unless it’s a good strategy).
As you dive into the Pendleton case, you can work with others in the class to
conduct the analysis, but the entire write-up MUST be in your own words.
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Avoiding “Great Job!”: Self- and Peer
Feedback as Formative Assessment for Oral
Communication
Ashly B. Smith, Danica L. Schieber, and Traci L. Austin
Sam Houston State University

To improve desired communication skills, the authors’ university offers a
business-focused oral communication course. In end-of-course evaluations, students report improved skills and confidence, without mentioning
specific skills. The authors suspected that engaging students in self- and
peer evaluation would improve students’ ability to identify and improve
specific oral communication skills. This study added repeated rounds of
self- and peer evaluation to test their influence. Students began to offer
more relevant comments on others’ work and more effectively applied
others’ comments to their own performance. Repeated practice with selfand peer review, therefore, can help students become more effective
evaluators of oral communication.
Keywords: Workplace Communication, Peer Assessment, Oral
Communication, Self-Assessment
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INTRODUCTION
Most students who graduate with an undergraduate business degree are
expected to deliver oral presentations effectively. In their standards for accreditation, the Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business (AACSB) lists
as one of the key general skill areas for business graduates the ability to
effectively communicate orally and in writing [AACSB International, 2018, p.
35]. Since 2014, employers participating in the annual Job Outlook surveys of the
National Association of Colleges and Employers (NACE) have consistently
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ranked oral communication as one of the top five essential skills for job applicants
[NACE, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018]. Moreover, business professionals and
alumni who visit our university often emphasize the importance of effective oral
communication skills for students’ professional success.
Much current research has shown, however, that young professionals often do
not have the speaking and presentation skills employers expect of them [e.g.
Chan, 2011; NACE, 2018]. To address this issue, our mid-size southern land grant
university’s business college offers a second-year course focused on improving
students’ professional oral and nonverbal communication skills. The assignments
in this course model the kinds of communication situations that graduates will
face in the workplace, including individual and group presentations, various types
of interviews, meetings, networking events, and other professional social
communication.
The course is seen as successful; analysis of the comments contained in
student evaluations across multiple sections has shown that, by the end of the
semester, many students feel they have improved both in terms of skills and
confidence levels as a result of taking this course. However, although instructors
see these gains as well, they note smaller gains than students see, especially with
regard to such factors as effective eye contact, nonverbal communication, and
reduction in the use of filler words. We suspected that the discrepancy originated,
in part, in the feedback mechanism for the course, which historically relied only
on instructor feedback.
Peer feedback and self-reflection— especially when paired with video recordings of the students’ presentations— can be useful tools for helping students
identify areas of strength and weakness (see also Murphy and Barry, 2016). These
tools can also enable students to develop strategies and tactics to improve their
skills. Although the relevant literature discussed in the following section shows
that self-reflection, peer feedback, and video recordings can help students identify
areas for improvement, much of this research focuses on one or two rounds of
presentations (often due to reasonable limitations set by the research location; e.g.
only one presentation is given in the course). This study, conducted in two
sections of the sophomore-level business communication class (n ⫽ 59), considers whether students’ ability to identify effective presentation skills and evaluate
their own and others’ delivery skills changes when they complete self-reflections
and provide peer feedback for four presentations delivered over the course of a
15-week semester.
REVIEW OF LITERATURE
Teacher, Peer, Self: Determining the Best Feedback Mix
In the business-focused oral communication course taught at our university,
the feedback students receive on their presentations consists almost entirely of the
instructor’s written comments (primarily on a rubric) and brief verbal remarks that
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immediately follow a presentation. This instructor-centered approach reflects
common pedagogical practice and conforms to most students’ expectations.
Pokorny and Pickford [2010] point out that most formative and summative
assessment of student oral communication originates with the instructor; in
addition, many students believe that feedback from teachers is “better” than the
feedback they receive from peer review or self-review [Rodgers, Horvath, Jung,
Fry, and Diefes-Dux, 2015; van Ginkel, Gulikers, Biemens, Noroozi, Roozen,
Bos, van Tilborg, van Halteren, and Mulder, 2019]. Because of this practice, the
students have not had access to others’ views of their performance, nor have they
had the opportunity to reflect on their own development as presenters. Research
has shown, however, that student oral presentation performance can benefit from
feedback received from a variety of sources [Cheng and Warren, 2005; de Grez,
Valke, and Roozen, 2012; van Ginkel, Gulikers, Biemans, and Mulder, 2015].
Lizzio and Wilson [2008] point out that when students can identify weaknesses in
their own content and receive deeper feedback, it’s more effective for learning.
This deeper feedback then allows students to improve their presentation skills
over time [Duncan, 2007; Higgins, Hartley, and Skelton, 2002; Quinton and
Smallbone, 2010; van Ginkel et al., 2015].
To maximize the opportunities for student learning and growth, therefore, the
authors chose to include two additional feedback mechanisms: self-reflection and
peer reflection. The first feedback instrument, self-reflection, is a common tool
used to support student engagement and development and, when used in oral
presentation–related university courses, often appears as the final step in the
learning process [e.g. Tailab and Marsh, 2020; Murphy and Barry, 2016]. Reflection can take many forms, including exploratory writing, de-briefing sessions
between teachers and learners, or informal discussions with a peer partner [Bean,
2011; Fanning and Gaba, 2007; Nicholson, 2013; Ruhl, Hughes, and Schloss et
al., 1987]. Regardless of the form it takes, mentally processing their experiences
can help learners identify what they have learned and what they have not [e.g.
Bower et al., 2011; de Grez, Valke, and Roozen, 2009a; Moon, 2002]. Furthermore, this kind of thoughtful and effective self-analysis is helpful (some say
necessary) if students are going to create a plan for improving their skills [de
Grez, Valke, and Roozen, 2009b; Smith and Pilling, 2007; Topping, 2009].
The fleeting nature of in-class presentations makes it difficult for students to
reflect on their own performance in the moment or to remember the experience.
They cannot always see what others see, especially when it comes to aspects of
delivery, which include eye contact, body language, and verbal disfluencies.
However, having a “behavioral record,” like an audio recording, video, or other
artifact, can give students access to information about their presentations that may
have escaped them in the moment. This information can help them to make more
detailed, detached observations of their own performance [e.g. Candy, HarriAugstein, and Thomas, 1985; Dupagne, Stacks, and Giroux, 2007; Mace, Belfiore,
and Shea, 1989]. Indeed, prior research has demonstrated that providing video
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recordings of presentations and requiring self-assessment can be useful for improving students’ understanding of their strengths and weaknesses and their
ability to make improvements [Murphy and Barry, 2016; Ritchie, 2016; Scherer,
Chang, Meredith, and Battistella, 2003; Topping, 2009; Tugrul, 2012].
Self-reflection as an evaluation tool is not without issues, however. When
comparing self-assessments of recorded presentations to instructors’ assessments,
the study found that students rated themselves either significantly higher or lower
than their teachers did [Aryadoust, 2015; de Grez, Valke, and Roozen, 2012]. One
way to bridge the gap between student and instructor is to bring in a third
reviewer, i.e. the students’ classmates or other peers. Incorporating peer feedback
can lend objectivity to the process and improve a student’s understanding of his
or her performance [Campbell et al., 2001; Murillo-Zamorano and Montanero,
2018; Ritchie, 2016]. Students also value their classmates’ input, reporting high
levels of appreciation for and valuing of peer feedback on oral presentations; thus
they are more likely to apply their classmates’ suggestions to future presentations,
especially if those suggestions are positive or laudatory [de Grez, Valke, and
Roozen, 2012; Patchan, Schunn, and Correnti, 2016; Ritchie, 2016; Saidalvi and
Samad, 2019; van Ginkel et al., 2015].
Although self and peer feedback are shown to improve students’ learning
engagement and sense of agency in their learning processes, there is less agreement among studies about the consistency of peer and instructor scores of
students’ presentations [de Grez et al., 2012; Topping, 2009; van Ginkel, Gulikers, Biemans, and Mulder, 2017]. Many researchers argue that students need some
level of training to provide more reliable and specific feedback to their peers
[Carless and Boud, 2018; de Grez et al., 2012; LeFebvre, Blackburn, and Boyd,
2015]. This training is especially important because some students consider
themselves unqualified to provide constructive feedback to others (Cheng and
Warren, 2005; de Grez et al., 2012.) Examples of peer training include in-class or
homework assessments of presentations given by prominent figures, discussion of
informal presentations given in class, and more [Aryadoust, 2015]. These kinds of
training activities can mitigate students’ common concern that they are not
qualified to provide critical feedback to their peers [Cheng and Warren, 2005; de
Grez et al., 2012]. Notably though, much of the research on peer assessment
addresses students’ use of rubrics to award scores to their peers, rather than
unscored, more free-form feedback.
Adding self-reflection and peer-evaluation activities to the mix of feedback
that students receive in our course, therefore, could help maximize student
learning. As mentioned above, reflection activities often take place at the end of
the learning process. However, engaging students in repeated reflection activities,
particularly written self-reflection, has been shown to have positive effects on
their learning [e.g. Lew and Schmidt, 2011]; the same holds true for peer feedback
that occurs in repeated rounds [Murillo-Zamorano and Montanero, 2018]. Therefore, to help give students deeper insight into the elements of effective profes-
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sional presentations and their growth as professional public speakers, we took a
different approach when developing the instructional strategies for this project.
We incorporated self-reflection and peer-review instruments in four rounds,
spaced over 15 weeks; in this way, we aimed to help students grow as thoughtful
and skilled reviewers and as presenters. In addition, we incorporated coaching for
the students on effective assessment and used qualitative, formative peer feedback
instead of asking peers to score other students. In the following section, we offer
more detail on the study design and participants, as well as the training and
assessment prompts.
METHODS
Ensuring Variety and Consistency in Feedback: Assignment Overview
The feedback assignment series involved four rounds of self-reflection and
follow-up peer response to group members’ self-reflections. Each small group
included three to four students. The groups were established early in the semester,
and students were asked to sit with their group and complete daily activities
together during class meetings, to build rapport and understanding within the
groups.
Each round involved first delivering a presentation during class, which was
recorded and provided to the presenter’s small group via the university’s cloudbased file-sharing platform. Each student then posted a guided self-reflection to
the course learning management system blog or discussion forum that was set up
for the student’s small group. Finally, members of the small group provided
feedback on the self-reflection and overall presentation performance of each
group member, using the reply function on the other members’ self-reflections.
The first three “rounds” were each due approximately 1 week after the first three
major presentations in the course. The final “round” was completed at the end of
the semester.
The self-reflection prompt for each round was slightly different. However, the
reflection prompts required students to write responses to the following kinds of
questions (See Appendix A):
•
•
•
•

What were your strengths and weaknesses in the presentation?
Were there any changes in your performance when comparing with prior
presentations? Why might those changes have happened?
What is your specific and measurable plan to improve your performance
in the next presentation?
Did your previous improvement plan work? Why or why not?

The development of the reflection prompts was informed by the research
showing that self-assessment is a useful tool for helping students identify their
strengths and weaknesses [Moon, 2002] and for developing more self-regulation
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and agency for students in their learning process [Smith and Pilling, 2007;
Topping, 2009]. To further support students’ reflection and development process,
later rounds of self-assessment asked students to evaluate the effectiveness of
their improvement plans [de Grez, Valke, and Roozen, 2009b; LeFebvre, Blackburn, and Boyd, 2015]. In this way, students are encouraged to hold themselves
accountable and to test selected approaches that are tailored to their styles and
needs.
The slight nuances in the phrasing of the questions for each guided selfreflection are due to differences in the type of presentation that is associated with
each round. The first presentation was a professional pitch or introduction, similar
to the type that would be delivered at a career fair. The second presentation was
a mock interview conducted by two to three students sitting at a table at the front
of the classroom. The third presentation was an individual informative presentation delivered with a PowerPoint to the class. Each of the first three rounds of
self-reflection and peer feedback were connected to these three presentations. The
final round was an end-of-course reflection. Before the final reflection, students
also presented a team persuasive presentation with a PowerPoint and an individual
“Special Event” speech.
When responding to their group members’ self-reflections and presentation
performances, students were asked to reflect on their peers’ performances in class,
review their peers’ recorded presentations, and read their peers’ self-reflections.
Students would post a comment in response to each group member’s reflection.
Students used the following guidelines for their peer responses in all four rounds:
•
•
•
•

Are the presenter’s self-assessments fair? (By “fair,” we mean an accurate representation of the presenter’s work)
Identify improved aspects of the presenter’s delivery.
Offer feedback on improvement strategies and progress.
Offer any additional information, resources, encouragement, etc., to help
the presenter improve.

Students provided only written feedback to their peers; no numerical scores or
rubrics were used in the peer assessments. Although much of the previous
research on peer assessment of oral presentations studied students’ use of scores
and rubrics, the peer feedback tool used in this study was designed to further
mitigate students’ common sense of inefficacy in assigning scores [Cheng and
Warren, 2005; de Grez, Valke, and Roozen, 2012] by requiring only qualitative
feedback. Moreover, by including only written commentary, we aimed to give
students additional practice identifying and articulating relevant oral presentation
skills.
Following previous recommendations [Aryadoust, 2015; de Grez, Valke, and
Roozen, 2012; van Ginkel et al., 2015; LeFebvre, Blackburn, and Boyd, 2015],
both instructors helped students develop their assessment and feedback skills
during class meetings. Before each reflection and feedback round was due,
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instructors reviewed the assignment prompts, discussing which kinds of content
and detail would be appropriate. Much of this instruction referenced previous
class lectures, students’ understanding of effective presentations, and the degree
of detail that was expected. For the peer responses, students were instructed to be
critical but constructive because the objective was to help their peers strengthen
their presentation skills. As part of the peer feedback, students commented on
whether the presenter’s self-assessment was accurate (not too generous, not too
critical); in other words, students addressed whether the presenter was “fair” to
themselves in their reflection. Students also developed their evaluation skills by
analyzing sample presentations, such as TED Talks, public YouTube videos of
student presentations, and informal in-class student presentations, through class
discussions and other activities. Finally, the instructors shared and discussed
effective examples of self-reflection and peer feedback responses during class to
show the level of detail that was expected.
Through this assignment series, students regularly received constructive evaluations from three sources over the course of the semester: the instructor,
themselves, and their small group members. The instructors’ feedback was
delivered through the usual format of rubrics with additional written or oral notes,
and the self- and peer-provided feedback were delivered through the written
responses to the previously discussed prompts. The feedback from all sources
focused on both content and delivery skills to help students identify strengths and
weaknesses and hone their delivery skills in order to give effective professional
presentations.
Course and Participant Description
This institutional review board-approved study was conducted during Fall
2018 in two sections of a sophomore-level business communication course
focused on business presentations that is taught at a mid-size southern land grant
university. Fifty-nine students participated throughout the semester, with 25 in
Section A and 29 in Section B. The overall grade point average (GPA) for all
participants was 2.71, and the course GPA for all participants was 2.80. Students
represented 13 different majors, including General Business (10), Criminal Justice
(7), Marketing (7), Management (6), Finance (6), Accounting (7), Agricultural
Business (2), Graphic Design (2), Liberal Studies (1), Biomedical Sciences (1),
Economics (1), Psychology (1), and Spanish (1).
All student information was anonymized; students who agreed to participate
were given a researcher-developed alpha-numeric code; and lists of participating
student names were shredded.
Data Collection
Because the goal of the feedback assignment series was to help students
identify and improve presentation content and delivery skills, the students’ self-
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Table 1. Delivery Codes and Descriptions
Code Name
Gestures

Stance
Eye Contact
Verbal Fillers
Facial Expressions
Pacing
Vocality
Volume

Related Topics
Use of hand gestures or movement; interactions
with visual support items, use of presentation
space/“stage”
Body positioning, leaning, swaying, foot movement
Eye contact with the audience and/or other elements
in the presentation space
Verbal fillers or distractions, such as “uh,” “um,”
“like,” “so,” etc.
Expressions on the presenter’s face, such as smiling
Speed of vocal delivery
The pitch, tone, enunciation, and/or clarity of the
speaker’s voice
Volume of the speaker’s voice

reflections and peer feedback comments were collected and anonymized using the
alpha-numeric code to identify each participant’s work in each round. The
researchers used Grounded Theory [Glaser and Strauss, 1967; Strauss and Corbin,
1994]. The authors note, “Grounded theory is a general methodology for developing theory that is grounded in data systematically gathered and analyzed.
Theory evolves during actual research, and it does this through continuous
interplay between analysis and data collection” [Strauss and Corbin, 1994, p.
273]. This particular theory is useful for analysis of students’ presentation skills
because it helps the researchers better understand student behavior by allowing
the codes and trends to emerge directly from the student data.
The researchers identified trends in the reflections and peer responses in each
round using grounded analysis. First, two of the researchers identified frequent
delivery skills or presentation content aspects that were mentioned in students’
written data. Then, the researchers developed categories and codes for the
frequently appearing skills and aspects. The researchers participated in a
norming session, followed by second round of coding by two of the three
researchers. The third researcher reviewed all coding decisions for accuracy
and consistency, and the notes were reviewed and incorporated through a final
round of coding. Through this process, the researchers identified two code
categories, Delivery Skill Codes and Content Development Codes, which are
described in Tables 1 and 2.
Each student’s total number of comments about a code was tallied based on
the comments from the student’s reflection and the student’s responses to their
peers. By tallying the number of comments by each student, we identified which
delivery skills and presentation content aspects that the student could recognize
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Table 2. Content Codes and Descriptions
Code Name
Elaboration

Organization
Restatement Strategy
Diction

Related Topics
Relevance and relatability of presenter’s general
topic as well as the explanations and examples
provided to support the main points
Order of information in the entire presentation and/
or within certain parts of the presentation
Incorporation of the main idea of a question into
the presenter’s answer
Word choice and usage, aside from verbal fillers

and felt comfortable addressing. Code frequencies were also measured for each
round and each group. In addition to coding the raw number of comments within
a code, the two primary coders assessed whether the comment was positive or
constructive (a critique of something that could be improved in the presentation).
There were no explicitly negative comments in the students’ self-reflections and
peer responses, which was likely due to the instruction to use a constructive tone
in their responses and the fact that the small groups sat and worked together for
most of the semester. All critical comments used a constructive tone. The coders
determined whether the comment was “positive” or “constructive” based on the
context of the full sentence and surrounding sentences.
RESULTS
Fifty-nine students participated throughout the course. A small number of
students opted to not complete reflections and/or responses in Rounds 3 and 4.
The total number of coded comments across all four rounds was 1,614; approximately 75 percent of these comments were coded into the Delivery Codes,
whereas the remaining 25 percent of comments were coded in the Content codes.
There was a decrease in the number of comments that matched the identified
codes beginning in Round 3, with 535 in Round 1, 540 in Round 2, 457 in Round
3, and 389 in Round 4.
In all four rounds and in both the self-reflections and peer responses, the
majority of the coded comments referred to delivery skills. Table 3 shows the
percentage of comments coded in the Delivery and Content categories in the students’ self-reflections and peer feedback for each round.
The total number of comments for each Delivery-focused code is shown in
Figure 1, and the total number of comments for each Content-focused code is
shown in Figure 2.
As mentioned, in addition to tallying the kind of comments that were made,
the comments were also marked as either positive—pointing out a strength— or as
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Table 3. Percentage of Delivery- and Content-focused Comments for Each
Round and Data Source

Delivery
Content

Round 1
Self
Peer
70
69
30
31

Round 2
Self
Peer
69
64
31
36

Round 3
Self
Peer
57
57
43
43

Round 4
Self
Peer
65
52
35
48

Figure 1. Total Comments for Each Delivery Code (All Rounds, n ⴝ
1212)

Figure 2. Total Comments for Each Content Code (All Rounds, n ⴝ 402)

constructive, a critical comment that focused on an opportunity for improvement.
No students left comments that were exclusively negative. In all four rounds of
peer feedback, the percentage of positive comments was higher than the percentage of constructive comments. In the self-reflections for the first three rounds, the
percentage of constructive comments was higher than the percentage of positive
comments. In the self-reflections in Round 4, the percentage of positive comments
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Figure 3. Percentage of Positive and Constructive Comments by Round

Table 4. Students’ Average Grade (%) per Major Presentation

Avg (%)

Introduction
87.95

Interview
92.26

Informative
80.35

Team Persuasive
83.57

increased drastically. Figure 3 shows the percentage of positive and constructive
comments for the self-reflections and peer responses in each round.
We also tracked the grades that students earned on each major presentation:
Impromptu Introduction, Interview, Informative, and Team Persuasive presentations. Students’ earned grades increased between the Introduction and Interview
and between the Informative and Team Persuasive presentations. However, there
was a noticeable decrease in the average earned grades between the Interview and
the Informative presentation. Table 4 shows the students’ average grade for the
four major presentations.
DISCUSSION
The comment totals suggest that students are more confident commenting on
delivery skills (75 percent) than presentation content skills (25 percent). The
discrepancy between the frequency of these types of comments is perhaps not
surprising because delivery skills are often easier to see and thus may be easier to
remember, even with a video recording available. These findings are similar to
LeFebvre, et al.’s (2015) finding that students of all performance levels comment
on delivery aspects in their self-evaluations. Nevertheless, the fact that presentation content codes were identifiable suggests that students are attentive to the
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importance of presentation content when assessing the effectiveness of an oral
presentation.
There was a greater proportion of constructive comments in the first three
rounds of self-reflections, with 67 percent, 52 percent, and 60 percent constructive
comments in Rounds 1 through 3, respectively. In contract, the majority of the
peer feedback comments in all rounds were positive, commenting on the presenters’ strengths, with 51 percent, 60 percent, 57 percent, and 87 percent positive
comments in Round 1 through 4, respectively. Students may lean toward giving
more positive than constructive feedback for a variety of reasons. As noted
previously, students may believe that they are not qualified to provide critical
feedback [Cheng and Warren, 2005; de Grez et al., 2012]. Students also may
emphasize positive feedback over corrective feedback to preserve interpersonal
relationships and/or avoid conflict because they were working together throughout
the semester [Waung and Highhouse, 1997]. Although students generally report
finding more use in constructive peer feedback [Rodgers et al., 2015], the higher
proportion of positive feedback in the peer responses can serve to motivate and
engage students as they develop their presentation skills [Saidalvi and Samad,
2019]. In addition, students are more likely to integrate peer feedback when the
peer reviewer includes praise about their peers’ work [Patchan, Schunn, and
Correnti, 2016]. In Round 4, there was a much larger percentage of “positive”
comments in both the self-reflections (60 percent) and peer responses (87 percent). The strong focus on presentation strengths in Round 4 is likely a result of
Round 4’s focus on growth over the course of the semester and planning for future
success.
Because the presenters and their group members were not assessing themselves with a specific rubric and were able to write about whichever aspects
seemed most relevant, we were particularly interested in which skills and aspects
students would choose to discuss. Within the Delivery and Content code categories, some interesting results emerged. Although not covering every single finding, we discuss in the following sections the codes with the most notable trends.
Implications for students and instructors are discussed.
Delivery Skills
Four of the eight Delivery codes had enough comments for each to account
for more than 10 percent of all comments: Gestures (15.4 percent), Stance (14.0
percent), Verbal Fillers (13.8 percent), and Eye Contact (13.5 percent).
The first two of these commonly addressed codes—Gestures and Stance—are
easily observable non-verbal communication aspects. The Gestures code was used
for student comments that referred to the presenter’s use or movement of their
hands. Examples of comments coded in the Gestures code include positive
comments like, “. . .the hand gestures helped to separate the different points” and
constructive comments like, “Try to stop moving your hands so much.” The
Stance code included comments that addressed how the presenter stood or moved
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their body while presenting. Positive comments in this code included ones like,
“you kept a professional posture,” and constructive comments included phrases
like, “my feet were too far apart.” For one presentation, the mock interview,
students sat during the presentation, so comments coded as Stance tended to refer
to posture in the chair, swiveling in the chair, or nervous foot-tapping.
The Gestures and Stance comments made up 15.4 percent and 14.0 percent of
the total number of comments and accounted for 20.5 percent and 18.6 percent of
the total comments in the Delivery Codes category. Although delivery skills
related to the Gestures and Stance codes can be obvious to the audience, the
instructors also had lectures and class discussions about non-verbal communication, including hand gestures, in the days leading up to the due date for the Round
1 reflections and peer responses. Students may have focused more on those issues
because they were just discussed during class sessions and were referenced as
examples when discussing effective feedback. The possible influence of the
course content on the students’ comments is also implicated in the notable
decrease in the percentage of comments in these codes in Round 4, because these
presentation skills were taught early in the semester. Between Rounds 1 and 4,
the percentage of Gestures comments decreased by 10 percent, and the Stance
comments decreased by 5 percent.
Eye contact was another specific delivery skill that students commented on
significantly throughout the semester. In addition to being easily observable,
having strong eye contact is also commonly mentioned a positive behavior during
oral communication. Moreover, effective eye contact behaviors were also covered
in the instructors’ lessons about non-verbal communication. Students’ positive
comments regarding eye contact included phrases like, “Another strength was
keeping good eye contact,” and constructive comments included statements like,
“I was looking at the PowerPoint too often.”
There were 218 comments coded in the Eye Contact code, accounting for 13.5
percent of the total comments and 18 percent of the comments in the Delivery codes
category. Unlike the Gestures and Stance comments, the comments regarding Eye
Contact only decreased by 2 percent between Round 1 and Round 4. There was a
spike in the percentage of Eye Contact comments in Round 3, jumping from 11
percent in Rounds 1 and 2 to 14 percent in Round 3. The increase in Eye Contact
comments in Round 3 was likely because the presentation associated with this round
was a one-to-many Informative Presentation in which the students faced the entire
class during the presentation. Overall, like the students in LeFebvre, Blackburn, and
Boyd’s 2015 study, our student participants consistently identified eye contact as a
notable aspect of effective presentation delivery.
Comments in the Verbal Fillers code were also common in the students’
reflections and peer responses, accounting for 13.8 percent of the total comments
and 18.3 percent of the comments coded in the Delivery category. The Verbal
Fillers code included comments that referred to the presenter’s use of vocalizations like uh, um, so, you know, and other “filler” words that do not add meaning
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to the speaker’s presentation. Positive comments in this code typically noted the
speaker’s lack of verbal fillers or noted an improvement (or reduction) in the use
of verbal fillers; constructive comments mentioned the unnecessary use of such
fillers. Unlike the other common codes previously discussed, the percentage of
Verbal Fillers comments increased from the first to last rounds, from 9 percent in
Round 1 to 11 percent in Round 2 and to 14 percent in Rounds 3 and 4. Awareness
of verbal fillers can sometimes increase the use of verbal fillers by making
presenters more anxious or more focused on how they sound than on their content
[Gotthelf, 2014], but some research shows that awareness of verbal fillers can lead
to a decrease in students’ use of such fillers [Spieler and Miltenberger, 2017]. The
increasing number of comments about fillers over the assignment sequence
suggests that students did increase their awareness of verbal fillers, but the
increase in comments may also reflect an increase in verbal filler use if the
awareness led to nervousness. Given that the comments about verbal filler
were overwhelmingly constructive until Round 4, when the proportion of positive
to constructive comments flipped, it seems that these students’ awareness of
verbal fillers did not make them feel as though they were improving in this
category until the final reflection, wherein comments tended to focus positively on
their growth over the semester.
The delivery skills associated with the four Delivery codes that students
commented on most are some of the most obvious to observe and are often
mentioned in public and popular discourse about what contributes to effective or
ineffective delivery, which may explain the high number of comments in these
codes.
All behaviors and skills coded in the Delivery codes are easy to observe or
hear during a presentation. Nevertheless, students’ reflections and peer responses
tended to focus on the more obvious and more popularly discussed skills: the ones
in the Gestures, Stance, Eye Contact, and Verbal Fillers codes. The students’
attention to Gestures and Stance may have been influenced by course content, but
the trends showing increasing comments about Eye Contact, Verbal Fillers, and
Pacing in subsequent rounds suggest that students improved the range of presentation skills that they feel comfortable assessing and providing feedback about.
Content Development
Given that delivery skills are often more easily observed, it is not surprising
that 75 percent of the total comments from students were coded into the Delivery
codes. Nevertheless, effective presentation content is an equally important component of an effective presentation.
To help students understand the importance of effective presentation content
and organization and to improve students’ content development strategies, much
of our course curriculum was spent discussing these topics. The evaluation rubrics
used by the instructor for each major presentation correspondingly assign most of
the possible points to criteria related to content and organization rather than to
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Figure 4. Percentage of Content Comments by Round

delivery-related criteria. Although, again, the students gave each other feedback
based on a broad, open-ended prompts rather than the rubrics themselves. Future
research could explore the reasons behind students’ increased attention to contentrelated aspects of presentations over time.
Thus, we were pleased to see that even though Content-coded comments were
only 25 percent of the total comments, the percentage of Content-coded comments per
round increased consistently over Rounds 1 through 3, from 30.8 percent to 33.9
percent to 42.7 percent, respectively. In Round 4, the percentage of Content-coded
comments matched the percentage in Round 3 (42.7 percent). It is interesting to note,
though, that as the course progressed, discussions of presentation content appeared
slightly more often in peer responses than in reflections, particularly in the final round
(see Figure 4). The presence of more Content-coded comments in the peer responses
may suggest that students are more comfortable assessing the content of others’
presentations than that of their own presentations. Another consideration is that the
increase in Content-coded comments over time may be the result of students learning
a greater vocabulary for presentation feedback.
The researchers identified four Content-focused codes: Elaboration, Organization, Restatement Strategy, and Diction. The first three of these codes were
commented on the most by students, whereas the fourth code, Diction, ultimately
made up only 3.5 percent of the total Content-focused codes and 0.9 percent of the
total comments.
Comments coded into the Elaboration code accounted for the majority of the
Content-focused comments, i.e. 61.9 percent of the total Content-focused comments and 15.4 percent of the total comments. The Elaboration comments addressed the speaker’s use, or lack thereof, of examples or the speaker’s depth of
explanation. For example, positive Elaboration comments mentioned things like,
“I love how you used many examples in your presentation as well as demonstrating them to the class,” and constructive comments included statements like, “He
could have used more facts . . . no factual proof.” Over Rounds 1 through 3,
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students’ percentage of comments increased consistently from 9 percent to 18
percent of the total comments but dropped to 14 percent of the total comments in
Round 4. The increase in percentages between Round 1 and 3 suggests that
students became increasingly comfortable in their ability to comment on the value
and quality of presentation content.
The Elaboration code was the only Content-focused code to account for 10
percent or more of the total coded comments. However, when considering only
the Content-focused codes, there were a noticeable number of comments in the
Organization and Restatement codes, accounting for 23.6 percent and 10.9 percent
of the Content-focused comments, respectively.
Comments sorted into the Organization code addressed the order of the
speaker’s ideas and information in the presentation. In addition, these comments
addressed the speaker’s ability to effectively deliver different phases of a presentation, such as the introduction or conclusion, as well as transitions. Positive
comments in the Organization code included statements like, “You had a strong
intro which gripped the audience well” and “good transitions,” whereas constructive comments included statements like, “My answers were wordy and repetitive.”
The percentage of Organization-coded comments within the total Content-focused
comments stayed relatively consistent in the first three rounds: 15.8 percent, 14.2
percent, and 14.4 percent, respectively. Like students in LeFebvre, Blackburn, and
Boyd’s [2015] analysis of students’ self-reflections, these percentages suggest that
when students are attending to Content-focused aspects of a presentation, organization is an aspect that they are able to recognize.
Comments that addressed the speaker’s use of the “restatement strategy” were
categorized in the Restatement Strategy code. The “restatement strategy” is the
practice of restating the main part of a question as the first part of the answer to
the question. For example, if asked, “Where did you go to college? ” the answer
would be, “I went to college at. . .”. Both instructors teach this strategy as a tool
for improving answer structure and relevance, providing some “thinking time” at
the beginning of an answer and generally showing the question-asker that the
person answering the question was listening. Use of the strategy is also a part of
the evaluation rubric used by the instructors for all presentations.
Although Restatement Strategy-coded comments make up 10.9 percent of the
total Content-focused comments, the majority of the comments in this code appear
in Rounds 1 and 2, where they account for 15.8 percent and 7 percent of the
Content-focused comments in those rounds, respectively. In Round 3, these
comments account for only 2.6 percent of the Content-focused comments, and
there were no comments in this code for Round 4. This consistent decrease in
Restatement Strategy-coded comments may be the result of multiple factors. First,
the strategy was taught early in the semester and was a key part of the professional
pitch/introduction and mock interview presentations, the first two presentations.
In the Informative and Persuasive Presentations, students answer only one to three
questions during a question-and-answer session after each presentation. Students
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may not consider the question-and-answer a part of the presentation on which they
should reflect or comment, despite the fact that their answers during this time are included
as part of the evaluation. It is also possible that students were less interested in this strategy
and were more focused on noting other presentation aspects.
Changes in Student Grades
As shown previously, the average grade for each assignment increased
between the first and second and the third and fourth presentations: ⫹4.3 percent
and ⫹3.2 percent, respectively. However, there was an 11.9 percent decrease in
the grade average between the second and third major presentations.
The first and second assignments used a one-to-one or one-to-few delivery
context, in which students needed to make eye contact and engage with only one
or two other people, even though the whole class was observing the presentation.
In the third and fourth assignments, the students delivered one-to-many presentations, standing at the front of the room and engaging with the full class. The
increase in grade averages between similar assignments may have been because
the first of the set functioned like a practice session even though the content was
different. In their distillation of research on oral presentation skill development,
van Ginkel et al. [2015] found that the opportunity to practice is an essential
design element for an oral presentation assignment or course. Although there is
variation in the research findings, some research supports the suggestion that
performance can be improved based on feedback from a mix of sources [Cheng
and Warren, 2005; de Grez et al., 2012; van Ginkel et al., 2015]. The increase
in the grade averages may also be more simply due to students’ improved
familiarity with the expectations for each context, given that students are known
to perceive instructor feedback as a tool for better understanding instructors’
expectations [see for example, Cauley and McMillan, 2010; Puolos and Mahoney,
2008].
The 11.9 percent decrease in grade averages between the second and third
presentations is likely due to multiple factors. First, the third presentation required
students to
•
•
•

share informative information based on research rather than their own
experiences and perspectives,
use more obvious gestures and movement within the presentation space,
and
engage with a larger audience.

Moreover, anecdotally, when students discuss their anxiety about presentations, they typically reference the one-to-many kinds of presentations. Anxiety
can lead students to avoid studying, practicing, focusing, and more techniques,
leading to lower performance scores (see for example Blume, Dreher, and
Baldwin, 2010; Hull, Lawford, Hood, Oliveira, Murray, Trempe, Crooks, and
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Jensen, 2019). Increased anxiety about the one-to-many presentation format may
have led to a decrease in the quality of students’ presentations skills and content,
resulting in lower grades.
CONCLUSION
Overall, the students’ comments suggest that they and their peers felt that
they improved their delivery skills and their ability to develop, structure, and
deliver their presentation content. Although students commented on a wider
variety of Delivery-focused aspects, they were most attentive to hand gestures,
body stance, use of verbal fillers, and eye contact. The increase in comments
about content-focused aspects over time suggests that regular prompts to
consider these issues and feedback from multiple sources helped the students
improve their ability to identify and/or discuss content-related features, at
least in others’ presentations.
Although some studies find that students more highly value instructor feedback [Rodgers et al., 2015; van Ginkel et al., 2015], these results suggest that
when feedback is provided from a variety of sources, students are able to increase
the criteria by which they assess presentations and improve their ability to identify
strengths in a presentation (their own and others’). As Murillo-Zamorano and
Montanero [2018] found, though, peer feedback is more valuable when it occurs
in multiple rounds, not just once in the course. Incorporating regular feedback
from multiple sources can strengthen students’ engagement with and application
of the course content.
IMPLICATIONS AND FURTHER RESEARCH
In this study, we have identified the oral presentation skills that students
discussed in their self-reflection and peer responses. The presence of certain skills
or aspects suggests that students felt confident in their ability to identify and
critique those aspects, but these results do not clearly indicate students’ skill level
with these dimensions of professional oral presentations. Even though students’
comments focused on strengths or were encouraging—what we labeled as “positive” comments—these “positive” comments do not necessarily correlate to
effective performance, and we do not know what caused the students to comment
on certain presentation skills or aspects. Additional research investigating possible
correlations between instructor’s evaluation of performance and students’ comments may shed light on these relationships.
During the process of this project, we noticed that one particular phrase kept
appearing in the students’ peer responses and self-reflections: confidence. The
researchers are interested in how students describe confidence and how they
portray confidence during a presentation. The results of this research are not
discussed here but will instead be analyzed in a separate, future study.
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We encourage our fellow instructors to use peer feedback and selfreflection as tools in the business presentation classroom throughout the entire
semester. As students become more familiar with the feedback process—as
initiators and recipients of that feedback—they offer more relevant and helpful
comments on others’ work. Repeated practice with feedback, therefore, can
help students become more effective evaluators of oral communicators and
public speakers.
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APPENDIX A
SELF-ASSESSMENT AND REFLECTION REPORTS (ASSIGNMENT
SHEET)
Overview
Improving one’s speaking skills requires both practice and critical reflection.
As part of this course, any presentation assignments you give will be recorded and
a link to the video will be emailed to you. Based on course readings, lectures,
and discussions, you will review these videos to identify your speaking strengths
and weaknesses. You will develop strategies for improvement and assess your
progress over the course of the semester.
In addition, you will be part of a team that provides feedback on each
member’s delivery performance and responds to each person’s self-reflection.
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Peer evaluation is an important balance for self-assessment because selfassessment is often biased, either positively or negatively.
Assignment Logistics & Using Blackboard’s Group Discussion Board Tool
You will be placed in a Blackboard Group. All Blackboard Groups include a
range of tools, including a Group Discussion Board. Self-reflections and peer
responses will be posted in the Group Discussion Board tool.
Self-reflections will be posted as a discussion post entry. Then, peer feedback
for each team member will be posted in response to the initial self-reflection post.
For more information and help on using Blackboard’s Blog function, see the
linked page: https://help.blackboard.com/Learn/Student/Interact/Discussions.
Self and peer evaluations will be completed for the first three (3) major
presentations—Impromptu Introduction, Interview, Informative—and a final
overall reflection round at the end of the semester. Required content for each
self-reflection is detailed in the next section.
Peer responses to the self-assessment reflections should discuss the following:
•
•
•
•

Are the presenter’s self-assessments fair?
Identify improved aspects of the presenter’s delivery.
Offer feedback on improvement strategies and progress.
Offer any additional information, resources, encouragement, etc. to help
the presenter improve.

Peer feedback should be encouraging but should also be honest and focused
on provided concrete notes and suggestions.
All reflections and responses must be completed no later than 11:59 p.m. on
the date listed on the course schedule. It will require coordination and conscientiousness to ensure all tasks are completed on time.
SELF-REFLECTION CONTENT REQUIREMENTS
Round 1 Self-Reflection
Preparation: Review your Impromptu Professional Pitch presentation, any
in-class self-assessments, and your graded assignment rubric.
Reflection Content: In your report, identify your strengths and weaknesses in
the Impromptu Professional Pitch presentation. Describe your plan for improving
your behaviors before your interview presentation. Be specific about your plan.
“Practice more” is not specific; “Practice at least 3 times in front of at least 1 other
person” is specific.
Recommended Reflection Post Date: (add date); Self-Reflection and Peer
Feedback due by (add date).
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Round 2 Self-Reflection
Preparation: Review your Impromptu and Interview presentation recordings.
Review your first reflection report, and your graded rubrics.
Reflection Content: In your report, identify your strengths and weaknesses in
your interview presentation. How do your interview presentation skills and
behaviors match or differ from your impromptu presentation? What might explain
any change— or lack of change—in your performance? Did you follow-through
on the strategy to improve your presentation skills that you developed in the first
reflection? Was the improvement strategy a good one for you to pursue? Why, or
why not? What is your specific plan for improvement on the upcoming Informative Presentation?
Recommended Blog Post Date: (add date); Self-Reflection and Peer Feedback
due by (add date).
Reflection #3
Preparation: Review all recordings, reflections, and rubrics for the previous
three presentations.
Report Content: Identify your strengths and weaknesses in your informative
presentation. Discuss how and why your performance changed or did not change.
Did you follow-through on the strategies for improvement that you developed?
Do you feel the strategies were helpful? Why, or why not? As we’ve discussed,
team presentations ask presenters to add to the skills they use individual presentations. Considering your own performances this semester and the expectations
for the team presentation, describe your specific plan for improving your behaviors before the team presentation.
Recommended Blog Post Date: (add date); Self-Reflection and Peer Feedback
due by (add date).
Round 4 Self-Reflection
Preparation: Review all your presentation recordings, reflections, and graded
rubrics. Review your self-assessment results from the beginning of the semester
and reflect on any changes over the semester.
Reflection Content: How have your presentation skills and behaviors changed
over the course of the semester? What are your overall strengths and weaknesses?
What strategies were most helpful to you this semester? Which strategies were
least helpful? How do you plan to continue improving your speaking skills in the
future?
Recommended Blog Post Date: (add date); Self-Reflection and Peer Feedback
due by (add date).
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2020 FEA/ABE
Virtual Conference
Submission Deadline
Extended to August 15th
Please note that the 2020 FEA/ABE Conference will not be held in
Louisville KY. Instead, we will host a virtual environment for everyone. We
will need volunteers to coordinate presentation sessions and that call will be
forthcoming. The Virtual Conference will be held September 17-19, 2020.
Submissions to the 2020 Conference are done electronically through a Google
Form, online. You must have a Google account to submit the form. You may also
send items as email attachments as in the past (see below), but we encourage you
to use the Google process if you can as it makes the task much easier for our
volunteers. Full instructions are provided at the link - the text below the link only
applies to submissions made manually.
Link to Google Form: https://forms.gle/8sL9BnLCmHgbNbTV6
Have questions? Don’t hesitate to email them to
Tim Michael (michael@uhcl.edu) or
Valeria Martinez (vmartinez@fairfield.edu)
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